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Song at the Year’s Turning 
After R.S. Thomas 

The Millennium Stadium Cardiff, 
Midnight, New Year’s Eve 2011/2012 

The firework’s cannon-echo fades, the rocket’s falling star decays 
as first with seconds, then minutes the year begins to carve its ways. 
The pitch grass is pale and short, dew-damp underfoot, 
the blades coaxed by low-suspended lamps further from their roots. 
Everything is to come, the stadium a vessel, the quiet a settled dust, 
a stillness anticipating the violence of a match day’s lust. 

The stands of seats are a crucible of voices, everything still to say, 
a hundred exit men between them, running their lives away. 
The soundscape of a cave, dripping in the night. Or a winter wood 
where every creak and sigh suggests the ear of tooth or blood. 
A single bird takes flight across the opened roof as if lifting from a bough, 
its feathers lit, as bright as a sub breaking from touch like the breaking of a vow. 

A blessing? Perhaps. For seasons and matches also have their grace, 
not only turning but returning too, beginning at the same beginning place. 
We are grown from memory but alive only now, our past breaths upon the wind. 
Whatever has been done, though there, is gone; whoever sinned, 
whoever won, is recalled and forgotten here, where glory, bruise and blame 
will all be washed away by now. The new grass shall purge us in its flame. 

Owen Sheers, WRU Artist in Residence 2012
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We can all look back with pride on a season  in which the
Wales team delivered a Grand Slam and reached the semi
finals of the Rugby World Cup in New Zealand. Along with
the rest of Wales I savoured those two achievements
especially as, in my role as President, I know just how much
hard work and endeavour they represented. It has truly been
a year in which we have proved we have the people and the
structures in place to achieve the success we crave. A
winning Wales team fuels our sport and this report will detail
in full how that success is helping the whole of the Welsh
game.

I am delighted to note how throughout the year a number
of initiatives were focused on helping to sustain and develop
the community game. We need the grassroots to thrive so
that rugby will remain our national sport and the players who
ultimately become our international stars can be identified
and nurtured. 

Our success cannot be left to the vagaries of fate and this
report shows how the WRU is now fit for purpose and
capable of sustaining and developing the game across Wales.

As President and as a rugby supporter I take great pride in
the history and heritage of our game and it is fitting that
today’s WRU still respects our traditional values and beliefs.
This is epitomised whenever we confront the sad loss of
individuals who have served our game tirelessly and enriched
its development. During the year Welsh rugby sadly said
farewell to many who have played a significant part in our
proud history and there were a number whom I would count
as personal friends. Each of them enriched our game and the
lives of those who had the privilege to know them. At the
end of this report we have rightly devoted some editorial
space to their memories.

Our most recent loss was the sad passing of Dr Jack Mathews
whose memory will live on as one of our true greats.
Although both erudite and courteous he was not a man
willing to tolerate poor standards or bad behaviour, and was
never afraid to speak his mind. His attitude to rugby and to
life will serve as an example of what is good about our game.

We also mourned the loss of Mervyn Davies and Brian
Thomas, two giants in every sense of the word and, of
course, teammates during a golden era for our national side.
Just before their passing we also lost that wonderful
threequarter, Malcolm Thomas who delighted so many
spectators in his performances for Newport, Wales and the
British & Irish Lions. There was also the sad passing of Clive
Shell and, from an earlier era, Robin Havard (RH) Davies.

The Welsh Rugby Charitable Trust again proved its worth in
doing everything possible to support players who have
suffered catastrophic injuries and it was a marvellous boost
to the Trust when the Duke of Cambridge graciously agreed
to become its Patron. As I have mentioned many times it is
an honour and privilege to be involved with the Trust and
meeting these players is always an inspiration. Such an
example of determination and fortitude in combating a life-
changing injury was John Davies of Ebbw Vale who sadly
died in August. John had sustained his injury in 1983 but
never lost his love of the game and his zest for life. His
positive outlook was exemplary. 

I would like to thank the Chairman of the Board, David
Pickering, and the other Board members, the Group Chief
Executive, Roger Lewis, and all his Executive Board for all their
hard work, dedication and unfailing assistance. Finally a
special thank you to all the member clubs who have always
made me feel most welcome throughout the length and
breadth of the country.

Thank you

Dennis Gethin
President
The Welsh Rugby Union Limited

Mi fedrwn edrych yn ôl, gyda balchder ar dymor pryd y
cyflawnwyd y Gamp Lawn ac fe gyrhaeddwyd rownd cyn
derfynol Cwpan Rygbi'r Byd yn Seland Newydd. Fel pawb
arall yng Nghymru roeddwn i yn ymfalchïo yn
llwyddiannau’r tîm, yn enwedig felly gan fy mod i fel
Llywydd, yn ymwybodol iawn o'r gwaith caled oedd yn sail
i'r cyfan. Mae'r flwyddyn ddiwethaf wedi profi bod y bobol
ar strwythurau priodol yn eu lle er mwyn sicrhau'r
llwyddiant y mae pawb yn dymuno gweld. Mae tîm
llwyddiannus yn cynnal chwaraeon yma yng Nghymru ac
fe fydd yr adroddiad yma yn amlinellu'r graddau y mae'r
llwyddiant hynny yn helpu'r gamp drwyddi draw yma yng
Nghymru.

Mae hi’n bleser cael nodi bod nifer o gynlluniau wedi
canolbwyntio ar gynnal a datblygu'r gêm, yn y gymuned.
Rhaid sicrhau bod y gêm ar y lefel yma yn ffynnu er mwyn
meithrin sêr rhyngwladol y dyfodol.

Ni ddaw llwyddiant drwy ddibynnu ar fympwy ffawd ac
mae'r adroddiad yma yn dangos bod yr Undeb mewn
sefyllfa i ddatblygu a chynnal y gêm led led Cymru.

Fel Llywydd ac fel cefnogwr rygbi, yr wyf yn ymfalchïo yn
hanes a threftadaeth ein gem, ac mae hi'n briodol iawn
bod yr Undeb yn gweithredu i ddiogelu ein gwerthoedd
traddodiadol. Mae'r blaenoriaethau hynny yn amlygu eu
hunain pan yr ydym yn colli unigolion sydd wedi cyfrannu
cymaint i'r gêm. Yn ystod y flwyddyn ddiwethaf yr ydym
wedi ffarwelio gyda nifer sydd wedi chwarae rhan
allweddol yn ein hanes ac roedd nifer ohonyn nhw yn
ffrindiau personol i mi. Ar ddiwedd yr adroddiad yma yr
ydym wedi neilltuo gofod golygyddol i'w coffau mewn
ffordd deilwng.

Dr Jack Matthews oedd y golled ddiweddaraf ac fe fydd y
cof amdano fel un o gewri'r gamp yn parhau. Er yn ddyn
dysgedig a chwrtais, nid oedd yn fodlon derbyn safonau
isel neu ymddygiad gwael ac roedd o'n barod i fynegi ei
farn. Roedd ei agwedd at rygbi yn esiampl o'r hyn sydd yn
dda am y gamp.

Yn ystod y misoedd diwethaf yr oeddwn hefyd yn galaru
dros Merfyn Davies a Brian Thomas, dau gawr yn wir ystyr
y gair ac yn gyd-chwaraewyr yn ystod oes aur ein tîm
cenedlaethol. Felly hefyd Malcolm Thomas, chwaraewr
disglair i Gasnewydd, Cymru a'r Llewod. Bu farw hefyd
Clive Shell a Robin Havard (RH) Davies.

Unwaith eto mae fe ddaeth gwerth Ymddiriedolaeth
Elusennol Rygbi Cymru i'r amlwg wrth gynorthwyo

chwaraewyr ddioddefodd anafiadau difrifol, a chafwyd
hwb aruthrol pan dderbyniodd Dug Caergrawnt
wahoddiad i fod yn Noddwr i'r elusen. Mae hi'n bleser ac
yn fraint i gael bod yn rhan o'r Ymddiriedolaeth ac mae
cael cwrdd â'r chwaraewyr yma yn fy ysbrydoli. Roedd
John Davies o Lyn Ebwy a fu farw ym mis Awst yn
ymgorffori penderfyniad a'r dygnwch wrth ymdopi gydag
anaf difrifol a newidiodd ei fywyd. Er iddo dderbyn yr anaf
yn 1983 roedd o'n parhau i garu'r gêm ac i fyw bywyd
llawn hyd y diwedd. Roedd ei agwedd bositif yn wers i ni
gyd.

Yr wyf yn dymuno diolch i Gadeirydd y Bwrdd David
Pickering ac aelodau eraill o'r Bwrdd, Prif Weithredwr y
Grŵp Roger Lewis a'i Bwyllgor gwaith am eu gwaith caled,
eu hymroddiad a'u cymorth parod. Yn olaf, diolch
arbennig i'r holl glybiau ar draws Cymru sydd wedi estyn
croeso i mi dros y misoedd diwethaf. Yn y pendraw mae
llwyddiant ein gêm genedlaethol yn eich dwylo chi ac mae
ein dyled i chi yn un enfawr.

Diolch yn fawr

Dennis Gethin
Llywydd
Undeb Rygbi Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Neges y Llywydd

Dennis Gethin, Llywydd / President

President’s message

Matthew Rees awarded his 50th capDennis Gethin yn sgwrsio gyda ffysio Cymru Mark Davies
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games at the stadium. What a feather in the cap of Welsh
rugby and an honour for Wales. 

None of the triumphs I have mentioned could have been
achieved without strong leadership and it is the strength
of the WRU itself which underpins our victories.

For that I am grateful to all our staff and especially to our
Group Chief Executive, Roger Lewis, the Board of the WRU
and the directors who chair our important committees.

I also thank my friend and colleague Dennis Gethin, our
President, for his friendship and unstinting support and
continuous offers of helpful advice.

Our Executive has ensured that our links with the Welsh
Government, our sponsors, stakeholders and broadcast
partners have never been better and those relationships
have helped us achieve many of our goals.

The stability of the WRU is key to our success at all levels
and I believe anyone who wants to understand how the
WRU operates these days should look closely at the
National Squad and how our Head Coach has created an
environment based on strong values.

Our continued success could never be assured without a
strong community game and I am delighted that the
grassroots of our game is so clearly now a priority.

This report details some excellent work and some
extremely powerful initiatives aimed at assuring the
sustainability of community rugby and helping it develop.

All these attributes and achievements help Welsh rugby
punch way above its weight on the international stage and
I am so pleased to personally play a role in that area of our
development.

While retaining a clear focus on the grassroots, I was also
asked during the year, to extend my term as Chairman of
the Six Nations Committee to conclude significant deals
on title sponsorship and TV rights. I am delighted to
confirm that these aims have been achieved for another
four year term, which will benefit Welsh rugby. 

As a director of the Rugby World Cup 2015, I attended the
London launch of the 2016 Olympics, which will feature
Sevens rugby as a medal sport for the first time.  It is clear
that Sevens is going to play a huge role in the evolution of
our sport in the future. 

The successes we have achieved at the highest level of
rugby in Wales are based on the strong foundations we
have put in place off the field of play.  This report will show
how we have also achieved financial stability and success
which is allowing the WRU to focus closely on the needs
of the community game.

Of course there are challenges but we have shown in
recent years what determination aligned to sound strategic
planning and operational vigour can achieve.

The initiatives and effort being focused on our clubs can
make them stronger and preserve a solid foundation for
our national game.

You can all be assured that the WRU will not suffer from
complacency and this report contains clear evidence of the
vision now at work within our governance and Executive
structure.

It is important that I thank my Deputy Chairman Ken
Hewitt and the other key committee chairmen, Martin
Davies, Mal Beynon and Alan Jones for their support and
relentless endeavours on behalf of Welsh rugby.

These are exciting times for Welsh rugby and I look to the
future with enthusiasm and confidence.

David Pickering
Chairman
The Welsh Rugby Union Limited

I firmly believe that the success of Welsh rugby reflected
in the pages of this report signifies that we are now
enjoying a new Golden Age of the game in Wales.

The investment we have made in terms of staff, talent
development and financial resource are being reflected in
terms of international playing success. 

It is hard to believe that up until 2005 we had not secured
a Grand Slam in 27 years and now we have won three in
the space of eight years.

Our U20 team has also emerged from their challenges of
2011 and beaten New Zealand at the Junior World
Championship in South Africa. What a turn around and
what a credit to the players and coaches.

We remain Rugby World Cup Sevens champions and the
WRU has brought the London 2012 Olympics to Wales
with eleven international soccer matches at the Millennium
Stadium. 

The Rugby World Cup of 2015 now looms just over the
horizon and we remain optimistic in our ability to secure
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Chairman’s statement

David Pickering, Chairman

Grand Slam presentation

Chairman David Pickering addresses the WRU AGM. He also
chairs the Six Nations Committee and is a RWC Ltd Director
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Highlights of the year

• A record turnover of £63.2m, an increase on 2011 of
16%, and an increase since 2007 of 44%

The engine for us to grow the game is our financial
achievement and so this significant financial highlight
means that over the past year, we have:

• Produced a record equalling EBITDA (Earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) of £27.6m,
an increase on 2011 of 5.6%, and an increase since
2007 of 31%

• Allocated a record £20.1m to our affiliated organisations,
an increase on 2011 of 4% and an increase since 2007
of 35%

• Invested £3.8m into community rugby, an increase on
2011 of 23%, and an increase since 2007 of 31%. This
is in addition to a further £2.1m to support the
operational costs of the community game, together a
record level of funding

• Invested a record £4.1m into the operational costs of
elite rugby, in addition to record levels of direct costs
driven by an exceptional Rugby World Cup year

• £2.9m committed to refurbishing the Millennium
Stadium. This is the highest single spend on the Stadium
since its opening in 1999

• Reduced our repayable net bank debt by £7.4m from last
year to a record low of £18.8m, having eradicated
£20.5m of repayable net bank debt since 2007. We
continue to be on target to be debt free by 2021.

Elite Rugby includes our funding, staffing and support of
the national team, the national age grade teams, the
sevens team, the national academy, the regional academies
and a £6.2m sum to the four Regions for international
player release, in addition to £1.2m to the semi-
professional Premiership Clubs.

In Elite Rugby the highlights include:

• Reaching a semi-final in the 2011 Rugby World Cup in
New Zealand, our best performance since 1987

• Winning a Grand Slam in the 2012 RBS 6 Nations
Championship, our third since 2005

• Achieving a fourth place IRB world ranking; our highest
ever, and ending the season ranked sixth

• Dan Lydiate named the 2012 RBS 6 Nations Man of the
Tournament

• Concluding a five year contract until July 2016 with our
international players which is heavily weighted to reward
success

• Wales U20 achieving a third place in the 2012 IRB Junior
World Championship, our best ever

• Aligning the rugby strategies, systems and certain staff
between the National Academy and the National Age
Grades and the senior National Team

• Nigel Owens selected as the Heineken Cup Final referee
for a record equalling third time and officiating at the
RWC along with Tim Hayes. Leighton Hodges went to
the JWC and Clayton Thomas was appointed as an IRB
referee selector

• The Ospreys winning the RaboDirect Pro12 Playoff final
against Leinster in Dublin

• A British & Irish Cup final for Cross Keys against Munster
A, in Cork

• The signing of the first Premiership Participation
Agreement, which complements the Regional
Participation Agreement signed in 2009

• The implementation of the Premiership reforms, to
underpin the professional game

• The further enhancement of North Wales as a
Development Region including, in partnership with
Conwy Borough Council, Parc Eirias hosting Wales U20
Six Nations fixtures, played in front of sell-out crowds 

• Dual contracting of the National Sevens core squad,
ranked eighth at the end of the IRB 2012 HSBC Sevens
World Series  

• A revised strategy for women’s rugby centred around
Sevens rugby in preparation for the 2016 Olympics.
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Group Chief Executive’s summary

Roger Lewis, Group Chief Executive

Grand Slam celebrations at the Senedd

The 2011/12 season will be remembered as a
remarkable year for the Welsh Rugby Union both
on and off the field.

Our performance over the past twelve months, in the
areas of rugby, financial, commercial and general
management has been the culmination of over 5 years of
planning and preparation.

The financial results which the WRU Group has delivered
over these past 5 years, producing record figures once
again this year, is a tribute to everyone working
throughout Welsh rugby.

This, in turn, means that we have been able to retain,
employ and invest in a wide range of skilful and

exceptional people, working across all areas of WRU
Group activities, in addition to continuing our funding of
an array of Community and Elite Rugby facilities and
systems.

The relationship between rugby in Wales and its
supporters has been particularly special this year,
something we must never take for granted.

Within this Annual Report we review in great detail our
financial and operational performance for the year ending
30 June 2012 and, in particular, our activities in Elite
Rugby, Community Rugby and our Millennium Stadium.
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The Millennium Stadium is wholly owned by the WRU,
and all of its commercial and business management is
integrated within the WRU Group.      

In our Millennium Stadium the highlights include:

• Seven full Wales International fixtures, with three full
houses

• A total attendance for all events for the year in excess of
650,000

• 61,000 supporters watched the Wales v France RWC
semi-final on the stadium screens

• 59,600 tour visitors, a record number

• Installed a new floodlighting system, with support from
LOCOG, increasing output by 78% and with the new
technology reducing the cost of power consumption

• Achieved the BS8901 award for sustainable event
management, the first UK stadium to qualify for this
standard

• Enhanced security systems around the stadium, with
support from LOCOG

• The planning and preparation for 11 London 2012
Olympic football games in 14 days in July; numbers not
included in this report    

The three pillars of elite rugby, community rugby and our
stadium are built upon an extremely solid commercial and
business affairs foundation.

In the WRU Group Commercial and Business affairs
the highlights include:

• An extension to 2017, of our agreement with our kit
manufacturer, Under Armour, now a 9 year relationship

• A new agreement with Gilbert for the supply of
international and domestic match balls

• A major four year stadium pourage agreement with
Heineken and Brains

• A significant agreement with Dove Men Care for our
Autumn Test matches

• Existing partnerships with the Principality Building Society
and SEAT have also been renewed. The Premiership will
continue to be titled the Principality Premiership and
SEAT are retained as the official car supplier

• Securing Official Hospitality Operators for four years to
protect and regulate our hospitality market

• Launching a new WRU Supporters Club to enhance our
relationship with followers of Welsh rugby across the
world

• Extending our agreement with the British Speedway GP
until 2016

• Upholding successfully the eligibility and status of U20
rugby

• Defending successfully the WRU reforms of the
Principality Premiership

• Beginning the digitisation of the WRU archive in
partnership with the BBC.

Community Rugby includes our funding, professional
staffing and support of our 314 clubs, leagues and
competitions in addition to supporting college and school
rugby.  

In Community Rugby the highlights include:   

• The announcement at the season end of an additional
£1m of extra investment into club facilities, schools and
recruitment initiatives

• The launch and completion of the first ever WRU Club
Census completed by 83% of our clubs to help guide
our future strategies

• The utilisation, for the first time by 100% of clubs, of our
online support site MyWRU 

• The introduction of a new National Championship
Division, the pinnacle of the community game

• The launch of the online coaching support resource, the
“Coaches Locker”

• 1,300 new coaches qualifying at Tag and Level 1

• 2,500 new adults experiencing new forms of the game,
including touch rugby

• A 10% growth (1,067 teams) on 2005/06 in club rugby
teams U19 and below 

• A new focus on student rugby, including a Welsh
Students National Team

• The employment of a further 19 Rugby Development
Staff with support from Sport Wales

• 52 people are now focussed upon community rugby
development, our largest team ever

• The launch of the “Minis to Millennium” long term
player development programme

• Every child playing club or school rugby experiencing this
new form of the game

• A new focus and impetus on school rugby

• 22,500 children between U10 and U14 played in a
minimum of three WRU organised rugby festivals

• 17,700 primary school children experiencing rugby
through the WRU schools programme

• 14,500 secondary school children experiencing skill
development sessions

• 73% of secondary schools being visited by a WRU Rugby
Development Officer

• 60 additional Rugby Festivals for children within clubs

• Launching the WRU Rugby Stars camps, for 4 – 14 year
olds with 1,500 taking part.
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Group Chief Executive’s summary

Participation Officers help junior rugby become a 2012 highlight

Olympic preparation

Speedway contract extended
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• Week in, week out coverage of the RaboDirect Pro12 on
BBC Wales and S4C, the biggest coverage of domestic
rugby on all of UK terrestrial television

• S4C’s support of College Rugby, Welsh Varsity, SWALEC
Cup finals and the Principality Premiership 

• The exceptional live coverage by all major Welsh
broadcasters of the Wales Grand Slam team celebrations
at the Senedd, in Cardiff Bay, hosted by the Welsh
Government.

Challenges of the 2011/12 year

This year has not been without its challenges, and it would
be remiss of me not to highlight them.

• We did not achieve all that we wanted on the field and
we recognise this

• Our four regions have experienced difficult financial
circumstances. They have spent considerable effort to
address them with a range of measures, and together
we have reviewed the issues with the assistance of PwC.
This work will continue throughout the coming year

• Certain key players decided to play their rugby outside
of Wales. Together with the four Regions we are
considering a range of actions to address this

• Our Head Coach, Warren Gatland, suffered serious injury
from a fall at his home in New Zealand. He has recovered
well and Rob Howley proved to be an able replacement
as the coach on the summer tour to Australia

• We said farewell to a number of world class players this
season, top of that list is Shane Williams who has left an
indelible mark on world rugby. Diolch

Outlook for 2012/13

For the past four years, I have written in this report that
“The future promises to be very positive for the Welsh
Rugby Union”. This has proved to be correct and will
continue to be the case for the year ahead.

Again though I urge caution, whilst always encouraging
us to seize the moment when it arises. It is unlikely that
we will achieve this year’s record revenues at the 2012/13
year end.

This is because we have carefully predicted our cyclical
growth patterns over the coming years, and so we are
confident that we can maintain appropriate investment
into the game and our stadium through careful cost
management. 

We have developed a rolling five year financial plan which
has identified this cyclical nature of our business and this
in turn is supported by our rolling strategic plan. 

This strategic plan contains specific objectives, actions,
responsibilities and timelines for all aspects of our activities
and is agreed by the Board of the Welsh Rugby Union. 

We have developed a very clear rugby and financial
strategy which has successfully taken us forward thus far
and we will maintain it and enhance it over the next twelve
months. 

Once more there are a number of major initiatives which
we will develop and deliver on over the course of the
coming year. 

Partnerships

We could not have achieved all that we have in 2011/12
without working closely with a broad range of partners. 

I sincerely thank our title sponsors, principal and
community partners and all of our other sponsors listed in
the full report.

In particular, I thank the Welsh Government and Sport
Wales for working with us on a number of aligned
strategic initiatives and all of our local authorities across
Wales, in particular Cardiff Council and especially Conwy
County Borough Council for their visionary support of Parc
Eirias in Colwyn Bay.   

A special highlight of the year has been our partnership
with the Arts Council of Wales and the establishment of a
three year artist in residence scheme. Our first artist, the
writer and poet Owen Sheers, has captured the
imagination of a broad public. His work with us has
appeared in the media across Wales and the UK, and his
residency continues until December 2012.   

Welsh rugby has a unique relationship with the
broadcasters and media in Wales as well as with those
across the UK. I would like to particularly thank BBC Cymru
Wales, S4C, ITV Wales and our written media for their
support this year, as well as our partners at BBC Network,
ITV and Sky TV. 

Broadcasting and Media highlights include:

• Two Wales v England Rugby World Cup warm up games
on Sky TV, a first for us

• A record share of TV viewing in Wales on ITV Wales of
88% for the Wales v France 2011 Rugby World Cup
Semi-Final

• The highest share on the BBC, 70% in Wales, for a single
nation viewing its own match in the 2012 RBS 6 Nations,
and the highest share, of 56% in Wales, for viewing all
Six Nations matches on the BBC 

• The best male (58%) and female (42%) viewer balance
on the BBC for Six Nations rugby reflecting the game as
the national sport of all of Wales
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Community Rugby

• Translate the 2012 WRU Club Census substantive issues
into the strategic plan

• Ensure the 2012 WRU Facilities Grant Scheme and
Recruitment Grant Scheme are maximised

• Further develop the WRU Club Support Team

• Enhance further the WRU schools rugby strategy and
introduce Welsh schools into the online support, MyWRU  

• Introduce criteria into the National Championship

• Launch ‘Max the Minis’, filling up teams at U7 to U11 so
as to continue participation to U16

• Plan to actively campaign for the community game to
embrace the amateur ethos and to stop paying players.

Millennium Stadium

• Refurbish the Stadium hospitality facilities

• Establish Millennium Stadium Experience Limited; a joint
venture with the Compass Group

• Prepare for the opening game of the 2013 Rugby League
World Cup next October.

Commercial and Business Affairs

• Review our ticket terms and conditions and enforce
against unofficial sales

• Review the current debenture arrangements

• Establish a pro bono legal advice helpline for member
clubs in conjunction with Cardiff University Law School.

Conclusion

The past year has been truly remarkable for the WRU and
I thank everyone who has not only contributed to our
success but those who are also securing our future going
forward – staff, players, coaches, clubs, officials,
volunteers, directors, sponsors, partners, media and fans. 

We have achieved record financial growth over the past
five years and we have also enjoyed wonderful moments
on the rugby field.

On joining the WRU in October 2006 I said that our
ambition was to create long term sustainability for all of
our activities both on and off the field, underpinned by
sound financial management. 

Our challenge now is to take all of Welsh rugby to even
greater heights.

Rugby defines us as a nation, unites us as a nation, and as
a union of clubs we will continue to stand together, united
around the overarching goal of placing Wales at the
forefront of world rugby, with passion, with pride and with
dignity. Diolch yn fawr iawn

Roger Lewis,
Group Chief Executive Officer
The Welsh Rugby Union Limited

The priorities for the year ahead include:

Elite Rugby

• To continue to target and sustain a top four IRB world
ranking 

• Plan and prepare for the immediate year ahead but with
an increased focus on the next four years to the 2015
RWC and beyond with all national teams joined up in
their thinking

• Invest further into technology, medical, strength and
conditioning and facilities at the National Centre of
Excellence including the installation of a cryotherapy
chamber

• Ensure that succession planning for players and coaches
continues, seizing the opportunity positively of our
involvement in the British & Irish Lions tour to Australia
and our own tour to Japan

• Support Warren Gatland, as he prepares to coach the
British & Irish Lions 2013

• Take a proactive part in Team GB Olympic 2016 Sevens
preparation 

• Be competitive in the Rugby World Cup Sevens in
Moscow. We are the current Rugby World Cup Sevens
champions

• Continue to work closely with the Welsh Regions and
assist them in their rugby and financial sustainability  

• Host the first Four Welsh Regions “Double Header”
matches at the Millennium Stadium 

• Further enhance the Women’s Sevens programme and
also qualify for the Women’s RWC in 2014 by achieving
a top four finish in the 2013 Six Nations

• Continue to invest in and develop match officials at all
levels of the game and in particular at the elite level.
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Financial Performance 

Overview of Performance 

The Group generates income from its international
matches (including sponsorship and broadcast rights) and
incremental revenue from the use of the stadium. This
income meets the operating costs of the Group to allow
the majority of the surplus to be “invested” in “Welsh
Rugby”, as follows:

2012 2011
£’m £’m

Group income 63.2 54.3
Business and administration (5.8) (5.5)
Direct costs (15.8) (12.1)
Stadium costs (7.8) (4.5)
Surplus 33.8 32.2

As analysed later on page 18, the Group earned some
£63.2m (2011: £54.3m) predominantly from international
rugby matches staged at the Millennium Stadium. These
matches generated 56% (2011: 56%) of the Group’s
overall income.  

Commercial income at £12.3m contributes 19% (2011:
21%) of the Group’s overall income.

Two other income streams, not generated from staging
international rugby matches, arise from: 

• Competition income which represents the income
from competitions including the Heineken Cup and
the RaboDirect Pro12; and

• Other events which represent events staged at the
Millennium Stadium apart from rugby matches
featuring the National Squad - including, in the two
years indicated above, pop concerts, motorsport,
football and the Heineken Cup Final.  

These two forms of income amount to some 15% (2011:
22%) of the Group’s income.

The remaining income arises from ancillary activities and
various grant sources. There was an increase in YE12 due
to a contribution from the International Rugby Board Trust
of £4.8m.

The business and administration costs represent the costs
of managing the Group; the direct costs represent the
costs of staging both international rugby matches and
other events held at the stadium; the stadium costs

represent the costs of managing the stadium other than
those directly attributable to events.

The surplus of £33.8m (2011: £32.2m) made by the Group
which is invested in “Welsh Rugby” can be analysed as
follows:

2012 2011
£’m £’m

Operational costs
- Elite rugby 4.1 4.0
- Community rugby 2.1 1.9

6.2 5.9

Allocations to affiliates 
- Regions (Professional) 15.1 15.0
- Clubs (Semi - professional) 1.2 1.2
- Community rugby 3.8 3.1

20.1 19.3

Total investment in “Welsh Rugby” 26.3 25.2

The balance is analysed as follows:
Surplus 33.8 32.2
Total investment in “Welsh Rugby” (26.3) (25.2)

7.5 7.0

Deprecation (net of grants) 3.2 3.1
Exceptional items (see Note 4) 0.2 -
Interest costs 1.0 1.0
Fair value losses on derivative 0.7 0 . 2
financial instruments
Tax 1.8 0.7
Transferred to reserves 0.6 2.0

7.5 7.0

The Group’s business and objectives

Group activities

The Welsh Rugby Union Limited’s (“Company”) principal
activity is to promote, foster, encourage, control and
improve the game of rugby football throughout Wales.
The Company wholly owns, amongst others, Millennium
Stadium plc (“MS”) and WRU National Centre of
Excellence Ltd (“WRUNCE”) and collectively they are
referred to as the Group.

Dynamics of the business

The activities, both operational and financial, of the
Company and MS are so intrinsically linked that there is
little merit in assessing the performance of one without the
other. Whilst they are two separate legal entities and are
obliged to prepare separate financial statements, it is the
Group’s performance that is the only meaningful measure.

The Group must deliver on its commercial activities to allow
re-investment in both elite and community rugby, the
Stadium and to support financial allocations to affiliated
organisations.

Accordingly, the Group’s income generation is paramount
to delivering on its stated objectives.  The key economic
income driver of the Group’s business is the hosting of
events at the Millennium Stadium; particularly, the hosting
of international rugby events featuring the Welsh team
and especially a winning Welsh team.  The more matches
that are played, the greater the Group’s revenues and
profits that are available for re-investment in Welsh rugby.
The Group welcomed 446,000 (2011: 396,000) rugby
spectators through its turnstiles for the Dove Men Care
Summer Series and Challenge against Australia, the RBS
Six Nations Championship and the Test sponsored by
Under Armour against the Barbarians in June, analysed as
follows: 

2012 2012 2011 2011
No. of ‘000 No. of ‘000
home home

matches matches

Summer Series 2 124 - -
One-off match against 1 60 - -
Australia in Autumn
Autumn Series - - 4 223
Six Nations 3 205 2 144
June Test against 1 57 1 29
Barbarians

7 446 7 396

The average attendance per match was 64,000 (2011:
57,000) and equated to an average of 86% (2011: 77%)
when expressed as a measure of capacity attendance.  

The primary reasons that the overall attendance increased
in 2012 was due to:

• playing three Six Nations matches as compared to the
two in 2011

• the successful Summer Series matches against
England and Argentina

• the one-off match against Australia in December
2011

• an increase in the attendance for the Barbarians
match, mainly due to the feel good factor following
the Grand Slam and the ticketing pricing policy; offset
by

• RWC11 dislodging the traditional Autumn Series.

The average ticket income per attendee at matches held
at the Millennium Stadium in YE12 was £36 (2011: £43).

Commercial income, including sponsorship income, club
& box seat income, programme income, stadium tours and
hospitality income are also critical to the financial
performance of the Group.

Within reason, our operational cost base is relatively fixed;
albeit there are incremental costs if more Group controlled
events are staged.  As a consequence, incremental events
should mean incremental profits which can be reinvested
into the game across all levels.
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The allocations to the four Regions have continued to
increase by 1% (2011: 6%) to £15.1m (including the
competition income referred to above).  These allocations
cover all international player release and provide core
financial support for the four Regions and reflect the
Participation Agreement signed in September 2009.  

The allocation to the Group’s semi-professional league has
remained in line with the previous year and stands at
£1.2m. The allocations to the Group’s community clubs
have increased by 23% to £3.8m; this increase includes
£0.5m for facilities grants and £0.2m for recruitment
grants.

On a pre-exceptional basis, the Group generated an
operating profit of £4.3m (2011: £3.8m) from which net
debt service of £1.0m (2011: £1.0m) is deducted, the fair
value losses on derivative instruments were £0.7m (2011:
£0.2m) resulting in a profit before exceptional items and
tax of £2.6m (2011: £2.7m). 

Revenues

Revenues are analysed as follows:

2012 2011
£’m £’m

Match income 35.2 30.6
Competition income 9.2 9.1
Commercial income 12.3 11.2
Other event income 0.5 2.7
Other income 6.0 0.7

63.2 54.3

Match income increased by £4.6m predominantly due to
the additional home match in this year’s RBS 6 Nations.
Match income can be further analysed as follows:

2012 2011
£’m £’m

Summer Series 6.7 -
One-off match against Australia in Autumn 2.7 -
Autumn Series - 11.8
Six Nations 23.3 17.6
June Test against Barbarians 1.0 0.6
Other broadcast income 1.5 0.6

35.2 30.6

Commercial income increased by 9% to £12.3m due to
increases in the sponsorship programme.

Other event income decreased by 82% to £0.5m; mainly
due to the lack of opportunity to attract other events due
to the pitch remaining in place over the usual concert
window during the RWC11 warm-up matches.

Operational costs

As shown in Note 2(b), the Group’s operational costs have
increased by some 27% to £35.6m. There are increases
across all elements of operational costs and an overall
increase of £7.5m. This overall increase includes an
increase in staff costs of 3% to £8.2m.

Business and administration costs have increased by 6%
to £5.8m as a result of:

• an increase in professional fees; and

• further investment in upgrading the IT infrastructure.

Direct costs are costs incurred directly in relation to
attaining revenues and will include all National Squad costs
and third party costs incurred in delivering events at the
Millennium Stadium. These costs have increased by £3.7m
which is mainly as a result of:

• an increase in player costs of £4.1m due to the extra
matches played compared to YE11 and the success
in the RBS 6 Nations; 

• there were additional costs for competing in RWC11
and on the Summer Tour compared to YE11; and

• the above was offset by a reduction in the costs of
staging events.

The costs in respect of elite rugby have increased by 3%
to £4.1m and include managing the age-grade structures,
player development, referee costs, national centre of
excellence and insurance which collectively amount to
some 69% (2011: 69%) of the total with the balance of
the 31% (2011: 31%) comprising staff costs, including the
staff costs of the academy structures. The primary increases
arise from increased investment in the 7s squad.

The costs in respect of community rugby have increased
by 8% from last year to £2.1m and include coach
development, referee costs and insurance which amount
to some 41% (2011: 38%) of the total with the balance
of the 59% (2011: 62%) comprising staff costs.  

Stadium costs have increased by some £3.2m to £7.7m
mainly due to the replacement of the floodlight system and
the refurbishment of the hospitality facilities within the
stadium. 
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As shown in Note 5, staff costs have increased by £0.3m,
which is largely due to the recruitment of 14 new
participation officers and the recruitment of additional
commercial staff. 

Exceptional costs

The Group’s definition of exceptional includes the
identification of significant non-recurring items which
enable the “normal” financial performance of the Group
to be better understood. During the year, the Group
incurred £235,000 of exceptional costs split into (a)
£175,000 of litigation costs primarily arising from the
Group’s defence to the case brought by Pontypool and (b)
£60,000 of reorganisation costs. 

EBITDA and net result

One of the key measures of the Group is the earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation, exceptional items and
allocation to affiliates (“EBITDA”). This is a key measure as
it is the best proxy for cash generated from the Group’s
operational activities. This provides the cash to fund the
Group’s strategic objectives.

The Group’s EBITDA was £27.6m (2011: £26.2m) which
financed the Group’s funding of Welsh rugby.  The Group’s
pre-exceptional profit before tax was £2.6m (2011:
£2.7m); after exceptional items, a profit before tax of
£2.4m (2011: £2.7m). This can be analysed as follows:

2012 2011
£’m £’m

Company 30.6 24.6
WRUNCE 0.1 0.2
MS (3.1) 1.4
Group EBITDA 27.6 26.2

Allocations to affiliated organisations (20.1) (19.3)
Exceptional items (0.2) -
Depreciation (net of grant release) (3.2) (3.1)

Operating profit 4.1 3.8

Net interest (1.0) (0.9)
Fair value losses on derivative (0.7) (0.2)
financial instruments

Profit before tax 2.4 2.7

Tax (1.8) (0.8)

Profit after tax 0.6 1.9

Net interest expense

The Group’s net interest expense has remained in line with
the previous year.  

2012 2011
£’m £’m

Bank interest payable & similar 0.8 0.8
Bank charges 0.3 0.2
Interest receivable (0.1) (0.1)
Fair value losses on derivative 0.7 0.2
financial instruments
Total 1.7 1.1

The fair value losses on derivative financial instruments
above are a function of comparing the existing derivative
financial instruments to current market values; these
amounts are unrealised.

WRU staff at work
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The decrease in net bank debt during the year of £7.4m
includes a £2.6m reduction in the term loan in line with
the terms of that loan together with a £5.0m reduction
due to the refinancing of the term loan.  The RCF facility
was increased from £15.0m to £17.5m and, as shown
above, the RCF was £4.1m drawn as at 30 June 2012,
£3.5m drawn as at 30 June 2011 and had a maximum
draw of £8.8m during the year. The RCF was fully repaid
on a number of occasions during the year.

As set out in Note 13, as at 30 June 2012, the Group had
unutilised facilities of £13.4m (2011: £11.5m).

As part of the banking agreements the Group has to
comply with bank covenants which require the Group to,
inter alia, meet certain levels of cashflows and surpluses.
This enforces normal business practices on the Group, but
limits the extent to which the Group can invest, make
allocations to affiliated organisations and access the
facilities above.

These bank covenants are typical of those applying to
commercial businesses.  It is in the Group’s best interests
to comply with these covenants as a breach would be a
default of the loan agreements.

The Group’s financial management and controls are
structured so that the Group comply with these covenants.

Capital expenditure

During YE12, the Group invested in some £0.7m of capital
expenditure; the main categories of investment were as
follows:

£’m

National Centre of Excellence - 0.2
Gym and medical equipment
Stadium LED Light project 0.3
Other capital expenditure 0.2

0.7

Balance sheet and reserves

The increase in the Group's net assets from £5.3m to
£5.7m arises from the retained profit for the year and the
actuarial loss on the defined benefit scheme.

The fixed assets of the Group reduced by some £4.2m,
reflecting the capital expenditure of £0.7m offset by the
depreciation charged in the year of £4.9m.

Operating working capital fluctuates from year to year
depending upon the timing of events arising immediately
prior to the year end.

Pension Funds

As shown in Note 21, the Group has no deficit on the
defined benefit pension scheme which it operates as at 30
June 2012 (2011: nil).

This defined benefit pension scheme is in the process of
winding-up and this should be completed in the near
future. 
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Taxation

The Group has been in discussions with HM Revenue &
Customs (“HMRC”), regarding the treatment of certain
matters for corporation tax purposes, for some time.

HMRC have been challenging the eligibility of certain
expenditure on the Millennium Stadium for the purposes
of capital allowances. If HMRC's challenge should prove
successful, this would have a detrimental effect on the
Group's tax position. These discussions have been on-
going for a number of years and the Directors have taken
the advice of independent leading counsel. On the basis
of this advice, the Directors believe the Group has
meritorious arguments relating to HMRC's challenges.

Although the outcome of these negotiations could impact
on the future tax position of the Group, the Directors do
not believe that it is necessary to reflect any further
provisions in the financial statements in excess of those tax
provisions already included.

Cashflow and Net Debt

The Group’s net cash inflows from operating activities
were as follows:

2012 2011
£’m £’m

EBITDA 27.6 26.2

Allocations to affiliated organisations (20.1) (19.3)
Exceptional items (0.2) -
Working capital movements 2.4 2.2

Net cash inflows from 9.7 9.1
operating activities

From this amount in YE12, the Group paid net interest
costs of £1.0m, paid £0.7m in respect of fixed assets,
repaid a grant to the Compass Group of £0.1m and paid
tax of £0.5m leaving a net cash increase of £7.4m.

The Group repaid some £7.0m of its bank borrowings.  

The Group issued 8 new debentures at £6,000 each during
the year and the prospectus governing the issue of these
debentures expired on 16 September 2011 and it is not
intended to continue with this debenture issue.

Net debt, which is defined as bank loans, debenture loans
and hire purchase agreements less cash balances, as at 30
June 2012 was £66.4m (2011: £73.8m).

Net bank debt, which is bank loans less cash balances, was
£28.8m (2011: £36.2m). Included within these amounts is
some £10.0m which is repayable only in the event of
certain defined events occurring.

As explained in Note 13, the Group refinanced its
arrangements with Barclays Bank PLC on 29 June 2012.
This refinancing reduced the term loan, increased the
revolving credit facility and revisited some of the interest
and covenant terms.

In order to properly understand the refinancing during the
year, the net bank debt position and the cashflow
performance of the Group, the following, excluding the
£10.0m debt referred to above, is relevant:

30 June 29 June 30 June
2012 2012 2011
£’m £’m £’m

Loans
Term loan 15.5 20.5 23.1
Revolving credit facility (“RCF”) 4.1 - 3.5

19.6 20.5 26.6
Cash (0.8) (1.7) (0.4)
Net bank debt 18.8 18.8 26.2

Shane the father enjoys the fans appreciation A 2nd Grand Slam for coach Gatland’s team

Rugby World Cup 2011 welcome
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As part of the Queen’s Jubilee tour celebrations several
players and senior WRU representatives were invited to
meet Her Majesty during a royal visit to Margam Park.

But it was the loyal fans who continued to attract
widespread comment and media coverage. Those
supporters created a focus of attention again in June 2012
when some 57,000 of them entered the Millennium
Stadium to watch Wales take on and beat the Barbarians
in a pulsating match which was a close call until the final
ten minutes. This fixture was utilised by the WRU as an
opportunity to engage with younger fans through a ticket
pricing policy which encouraged newcomers to the game.

More evidence of the robust fan base associated with
rugby in Wales was supplied when the National Squad
continued its policy of inviting fans to watch open training
sessions at the Millennium Stadium before the RWC 2011
and the RBS 6 Nations tournament.

For the National Squad, the year was a tangible measure
of the combined strengths of young talent, a world class
senior coaching and backroom team and a player
development pathway which now produces a constant
stream of talent. The performances at the Rugby World
Cup helped the Wales team achieve a pinnacle of fourth
place in the IRB world rankings.

That pathway was the result of a promise by the WRU to
ensure that its revamped rugby department working at the
WRU National Centre of Excellence would help young
players achieve their full potential through the integrated
age grade international and academy structure. During the
year the growing importance of international sevens rugby

in that pathway was also signalled when the WRU
announced core contracts for 12 players dedicated to Paul
John’s sevens squad for IRB Sevens World Series
tournaments. By the end of this year, a total of 21 players
who were developed through the Wales sevens structure
since its return to the IRB core programme had gone on to
achieve full international status. 

The success of that element of the pathway was evident
when Alex Cuthbert, Harry Robinson and Ashley Beck all
celebrated senior international recognition after first
cutting their teeth in sevens squads.

Within the senior National Squad the WRU was able to
confirm that Head Coach Warren Gatland, and assistants
Rob Howley, Shaun Edwards, Robin McBryde and Neil
Jenkins were all contracted until after the next Rugby
World Cup in 2015. In the case of Rob Howley his
contracted tenure is confirmed until 2016 to ensure
continuity within the current structure.

Also within the National Squad backroom structure the
National Medical Performance Manager, Prabhat Mathema
undertook a review of the WRU’s medical structure which
culminated in an expansion of the role and remit of the
Medical Advisory Committee along with a raft of other
important changes.

An important milestone in the year was the successful
negotiation and completion of a groundbreaking five year
deal with senior Welsh international players which secured
their services for every international fixture planned until
the end of the Wales tour of New Zealand in 2016. The
payments to players are based on rewarding success over

It was a year in which the combination of a competitive
contribution to the Rugby World Cup in New Zealand
followed by an RBS 6 Nations Grand Slam back home gave
supporters the opportunity to celebrate Welsh rugby in
style. During the Rugby World Cup some 60,000
spectators crowded into the Millennium Stadium to watch
big-screen coverage of the Wales v France semi-final
encounter 12,000 miles away in Auckland. It was an event
which focused world attention on Cardiff and confirmed
the status of Welsh rugby as the national sport of Wales
and its fans as amongst the very best. Nearly 1m people in
Wales watched the Wales v France semi final live on ITV
Wales which amounted to an astonishing 88% of the
available audience at the time it was broadcast. Just a few
months later, that third Grand Slam in eight years was
heralded by some as the dawn of a new era. The fans
again showed an incredible level of devotion to the team
and turned up at the Senedd in Cardiff Bay just days after
the end of the tournament to applaud the victorious
squad. The players and coaches had been invited to the

Welsh Government building to be publicly congratulated
for their historic achievement. The plaudits were already
being given by pundits who recognised in Warren
Gatland’s young team a level of skill and consistency which
boded well for the challenges ahead. Dan Lydiate was also
voted the RBS 6 Nations Man of the Tournament.

These events show the success of the senior Wales team
gained recognition for players beyond the confines of their
sporting environment.

Off the field, major changes within the WRU Rugby
Department were put in place to strengthen and evolve
the elite pathway structure which defines the whole of
Welsh rugby and its aims. The Rugby Department
completed its internal reforms by January 2012 and roles
have been refined to reflect the core aims of the structure.

Following the on field success, Wales captain Sam
Warburton along with senior coaches and representatives
of the WRU were invited to meet the Prime Minister, David
Cameron, at Number 10 Downing Street.
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Her Majesty the Queen meets players
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The U20 internationals against Scotland, Italy and France
were all played at Parc Eirias, Colwyn Bay in front of
capacity crowds. The experiment is now to be repeated in
future seasons to ensure North Wales based rugby fans
have opportunities to watch international rugby on their
doorsteps. The Wales U20 team also benefitted from
unprecedented levels of support which is being seen as
clear evidence of the importance of rugby to fans based in
North Wales. 

Another decision during the year recognised the ambition
of enabling North Wales to embrace its status as a
development region. It was decided that the representative
team RGC 1404 will play the forthcoming season in Swalec
League Division One East which will offer the squad the
opportunity to develop and state a case for potential elite
recognition based on long term results.

Also, during the year, a review was conducted by the Head
of Rugby, Joe Lydon, following a big defeat by New
Zealand for Wales U20 at the Junior World Championship
in Italy in 2011. That review led to an array of internal
refinements and appointments which culminated in
changes which paid dividends at the Junior World
Championship in South Africa in June 2012 as Wales
became the first team ever to defeat the U20 All Blacks in
the five year history of the competition which helped them
finish in third place.

The Regional organisations in Wales again supplied the
bulk of the senior national squad and some notable
achievements were registered across what was deemed to
be a season of mixed fortunes.

The Ospreys lifted the RaboDirect Pro12 title and the Blues
announced a return to their historic Cardiff Arms Park
ground for next season. Simon Easterby was installed as
Scarlets coach to replace the departing Nigel Davies whose
input was widely recognised as extremely positive in his
time at the Region. The Dragons consolidated their playing
status with consistency while also developing the Rodney
Parade ground to encourage greater support.

Off the field the Regional Organisations and the WRU
commissioned the accountancy firm PwC to conduct a
review of the regional game in Wales. Work was
progressed through 2012 with regular meetings of all
stakeholders taking place to consider findings and updates
from the PwC team carrying out the review. 

The WRU was saddened during the year to note the
retirement of Lloyd Burns through injury. The former Cross

Keys and Dragons player had enjoyed a rapid rise from the
Premiership through to regional rugby with the Dragons
and then on to full international honours. He was singled
out as an important example of how late developing
players can still be captured within the elite player pathway
and fully realise their talent.

An initiative was launched during the year in partnership
with the Arts Council for Wales to appoint the first ever
Artist in Residence for the WRU. The author, poet and
broadcaster Owen Sheers was selected to launch the
scheme and joined the WRU in time to participate in the
RBS 6 Nations Tournament and began working across the
rest of Welsh rugby. His brief has so far taken him into the
senior squad set up and on into the Premiership and
League rugby environments as an observer. Poems he has
already written about his experience have been published
with more publications to follow.

An emotional landmark during the year was the retirement
from international and Welsh regional rugby of the winger
Shane Williams who won 87 caps for his country. His final
game for Wales against Australia at the Millennium

and above a basic fee as the contract identifies match fees,
bonuses and commercial player appearances. Negotiations
for the deal were concluded between the WRU, senior
player representatives and the WRPA, players association,
which will be funded through the deal.

Within the year, Professor John Williams was appointed to
represent the WRU on key IRB committees and takes the
lead role in managing the medical facilities at the
Millennium Stadium. The WRU appointed the sports
medicine specialist, Dr Geoff Davies, as the new National
Team Doctor in charge of the senior national squad to
replace Professor Williams in that role. 

Within the rugby department, there were more senior
appointments which reflected the advancing remit of this
key unit under the leadership and guidance of Head of
Rugby, Joe Lydon. Gethin Watts was promoted from a
regional role to become the WRU National Performance
Manager with a remit to oversee the national academy
programmes with ex-international Byron Hayward
becoming National Academy Skills Coach. The highly
experienced former Wales Assistant Coach, Allan Lewis,
re-joined the WRU as National Academy Coaching
Manager. His core role is to help develop coaches and
players across the game in Wales but his personal skills and
experience are also utilised in a hands on coaching role
with the emerging talent of the Wales U18 team.

The focus on the Principality Premiership was reflected in
a departmental change with Will Thomas becoming Rugby
Compliance Manager with a brief to help assist and
develop the club structures within the league and build its

profile. The Premiership Participation Agreement was
concluded and signed during the year to complement the
existing Regional document.

The relevance and importance of the Premiership Division
at the core of the performance player pathway was
highlighted by a photograph taken of senior national
squad players wearing the jerseys of the Premiership teams
they have represented. 

A highlight within the domestic Premiership was the
celebration by Aberavon RFC of the achievement of their
back row forward Richard Morris who has now played
more than 500 games for the club.

The planned reform of the Principality Premiership faced a
legal challenge initiated by Pontypool RFC which was
defended by the WRU. The High Court supported the
WRU’s defence of the action and the 12 club division was
confirmed for the start of the new season. 

In a separate challenge during the year, the IRB was asked
by the Scottish Rugby Union to review the status of a
player the WRU deemed to be Welsh qualified after
representing Wales U20 in a relevant international. The
WRU interpretation of the regulations and associated
protocols were confirmed by the IRB and the U20
representation in relevant games continues to capture
players as Welsh qualified.

During YE12, the WRU continued its focus on North Wales
and the Community Rugby section of this report details
some aspects of that activity.
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Senior national squad players who once represented Premiership teams wear their jerseys again

Shane Williams scores his final Welsh try



Stadium in December 2011 was marked by his trademark
flair for elusive running. He scored the final try of the game
to achieve a career ending moment which delighted the
supporters. It proved to be a poignant farewell following
a career in which his diminutive stature never hampered
his impact at the highest level of the game. Williams also
represented the British & Irish Lions in 2005 and 2009
while in 2008 he was voted the IRB International Player of
the Year. His club career started with Amman United
before he joined Neath and finally the Ospreys. Williams is
currently playing in Japan with the Mitsubishi Dynaboars.

Another player regarded as one of the all time Welsh
greats is Martyn Williams who achieved his hundredth cap
during the year when he played for Wales against the
Barbarians in June 2012. Just like Shane Williams he was
rewarded with a loud and appreciative send off by
supporters who recognised his impact on the Welsh game.
Williams was also selected for three British and Irish Lions
tours and had even been coaxed out of international
retirement in 2007 by Warren Gatland. He played his club
rugby for Pontypridd, Cardiff and then the Blues.

Match Officials 

This was another year in which WRU match officials
operating within elite rugby again played prominent roles
in the global game.

Nigel Owens and Tim Hayes were both selected for the
Match Officials Team which officiated at the Rugby World
Cup in New Zealand. Owens took charge of the quarter
final match between New Zealand and Argentina and was
Assistant Referee for the competition final.

Leighton Hodges made his debut on the elite scene
officiating in the Heineken Cup competition. He refereed
at the Junior World Championship and was appointed an
assistant referee in the RBS 6 Nations.

Both Ian Davies and Rhys Thomas officiated in FIRA-AER
international games, while Davies and Neil Hennessy
officiated at the Six Nations U20 tournament.

Nigel Owens again featured in the RBS 6 Nations
officiating in two international games, as well as being
appointed to the first two tests of Ireland’s tour of New
Zealand in June 2012.

Ian Davies made his debut in the RaboDirect Pro12
Competition to continue the heavy involvement of WRU
match officials in this competition.

The Heineken Cup Final in 2012 between Leinster and
Ulster was controlled by Nigel Owens and as a finale to the
season, Leighton Hodges took part in the IRB Junior World
Championships in South Africa.

During the year Clayton Thomas was appointed as an IRB
Referee Selector.
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RBS 6 NATIONS CHAMPIONSHIP 2012

P W D L F A PD TF Pts

Wales 5 5 0 0 109 58 +51 10 10

England 5 4 0 1 98 71 +27 6 8 

Ireland 5 2 1 2 121 94 +27 13 5 

France 5 2 1 2 101 86 +15 8 5 

Italy 5 1 0 4 53 121 -68 4 2

Scotland 5 0 0 5 56 108 -52 4 0

Tim Hayes and Nigel Owens appointed RWC match officials

RBS 6 Nations Champions 2012
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Continuity is crucial and the coaching team of head coach
Warren Gatland, his assistants Rob Howley, Robin
McBryde, Shaun Edwards and Neil Jenkins have been
together as a unit, along with national team manager Alan
Phillips, for the last five seasons.

Building momentum is also vital and Sam Warburton’s
team made sure they got off to a strong start by beating
Ireland 23-21 in a Sunday international at the Aviva
Stadium which marked Gatland’s 50th Test in charge of
Wales. 

Full back Leigh Halfpenny kicked his second penalty goal
of the match in the 79th minute as Wales outscored the
home side 3-2 in tries with centre Jonathan Davies crossing
twice and wing George North also breaching the Irish
defence.

Referee Wayne Barnes showed yellow cards to Welsh lock
Bradley Davies and Ireland flanker Stephen Ferris for “tip”
tackles with Davies later suspended for seven weeks
following a citing complaint hearing that ruled him out of
the remainder of the Championship.

Wales gave first caps to replacements lock Lou Reed and
flanker Aaron Shingler in the 27-13 home win over
Scotland as they again ran in three tries, Halfpenny
finishing with 22 points from two tries, two penalties and
three conversions.

Wales scored ten tries overall throughout a championship
which again proved that, along with a powerful pack of
forwards, the current Welsh backline is one of the most
dangerous in the modern international game.

Replacement centre Scott Williams got the only try of a
tight contest at Twickenham, a 75th minute kick-and-
chase that broke the deadlock, with Halfpenny again
getting into double figures with 14 points.

Wales kept their line intact in a 24-3 home win over Italy,
Alex Cuthbert and Jamie Roberts the try scorers, and made
it three in a row by denying France a try in the Grand Slam
decider to concede just three tries in 400 minutes of
international rugby. Flanker Dan Lydiate was named Man-
of-the-Tournament.

Wales beat the Baa-Baas 30-21 in front of over 57,000
fans ahead of the Australia tour with wing Harry Robinson,
one of four new caps, among the try scorers.

The 2012 Grand Slam champions, under caretaker head
coach Rob Howley, travelled to Australia with genuine
hopes of matching the 1969 tourists in beating the
Wallabies at home. Wales went close to ending a 43-year
wait for a victory over one of the big three southern
hemisphere countries on their own territory but eventually
went down 3-0 to Tri Nations champions Australia.

In the first test in Brisbane the Wallabies were the ones
who provided the greater intensity at the Suncorp Stadium
with wing Alex Cuthbert crossing for a second half try and
full back Leigh Halfpenny kicking all his goal attempts with
four penalty goals and a conversion in a 27-19 defeat.

Halfpenny produced another 100% display with the boot
in Melbourne and with tries from threequarters, George
North and Jonathan Davies, they were ahead by a point
with just seconds remaining. But two penalty offences
ended with replacement outside half, Mike Harris, landing
an angled penalty goal with the last action of the match
to make it 25-23 with just the final Test in Sydney to play.

A close range try by No 8 Ryan Jones in the final Test meant
Wales matched the Wallabies try for try but five Berrick
Barnes penalties to 14 points from Halfpenny gave the
home side a 20-19 victory and that clean sweep of the
three-Test series.

Professional – International

Wales prepared for the 2011 Rugby World Cup with a
punishing training schedule interspersed with three
international warm up games. The training camps in
Poland were to become a symbol of the thought and
energy devoted to ensuring the players were at their peak
of fitness before the campaign began. The squad utilised
cryotherapy units which exposed the players to extreme
cold after each session to aid muscle repair in time to train
even harder through the day. The “fridge” sessions meant
the squad could pack an enormous volume of activity into
their Poland stay and return to Wales with the impetus of
some extremely hard work behind them.

The first game took place against England at Twickenham
where Wales were narrowly defeated before gaining
revenge and a ten point win margin in the return game at
the Millennium Stadium in Cardiff. Wales rounded off their
warm up schedule by defeating Argentina by 28-13 which
provided a genuine air of anticipation and hope going into
RWC 2011.

Few could have predicted the scale of the positive impact
Wales would have on the competition in New Zealand but
Warren Gatland’s predominantly young squad was to
prove a revelation to many.

In their first game of the tournament they narrowly lost by
one point to a powerful South African team at Wellington.
It was a result which undoubtedly surprised the fans of all
nations who watched the game and started a general
realisation that Wales had truly arrived as a prominent
rugby nation again.

A strong Samoa side were beaten by 17-10 in Hamilton
where the home fans clearly embraced Wales as the
visiting nation they wanted to support after the All Blacks.
In New Plymouth, Namibia felt the full impact of the Welsh
power play going down by 81-7. The pool stage was
successfully completed by Wales back at Hamilton with Fiji
losing by 66-0.

In the quarter final game at Wellington, Wales confirmed
their resurgence by defeating Ireland by 22-10 also
outscoring their opponents by three tries to one. The
Welsh campaign was already being regarded as a success
by many but there was also fathomable anticipation of
more to come from this team. Their performances on the
field were complimented by quiet confidence and courtesy
off it and the fans back home in Wales responded.

When Wales met France in the Semi Final encounter at
Auckland the Welsh players were fully aware and incredibly
appreciative that the Millennium Stadium was full of fans
who had gathered to watch the match live on big screens.
The historic encounter will be remembered by many for
the sending-off of captain Sam Warburton but the warm
praise he continued to attract proved that his reputation
as a fair and honest player remained. In the end Wales lost
by a single point which earned the respect of their
opponents on the day and the rugby world in general.

Although Wales lost the bronze place play-off to Australia
the campaign will go down in Welsh rugby history as a
tournament from which the Welsh emerged with their
heads held high.

Despite losing to Australia in the December international
at the Millennium Stadium 24-18, Wales went on to make
it three Grand Slams in just eight Championship
tournaments. They completed the clean sweep with a 16-
9 victory over France at a packed Millennium Stadium on
the final day of the 2012 RBS 6 Nations.

It was Wales’ 11th Grand Slam and 25th Championship
title with a 20th Triple Crown secured by the end of the
third round of matches with a 19-12 victory over England
at Twickenham Stadium, the first time Wales had secured
a Triple Crown at the home of English rugby.
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Paul James leads players from training in Poland

Prabhat Mathema, National Medical Performance Manager Mike Phillips scores against France Rugby World Cup 2011
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The Regions

RaboDirect PRO12

The Ospreys beat Heineken Cup champions Leinster Rugby
31-30 in a thrilling RaboDirect PRO12 final at the RDS –
the third tournament title in six seasons for the Welsh
region.

The Ospreys, the 2007 and 2010 champions, completed
their hat-trick of titles with a remarkable comeback that
produced two tries in the closing stages of a final that
Leinster had looked in command of just eight days after
retaining their Heineken Cup crown.

It was almost inevitable that winger Shane Williams would
mark his final game for the region with a trademark corner
try – his second of the half – but it also needed outside
half Dan Biggar to succeed with his touchline conversion
to secure the win.

The Ospreys beat Leinster three times in the season, Alun
Wyn Jones’ team also defeating Munster Rugby 45-10 in
the play-offs with Leinster, 10 points clear of the Ospreys
at the end of the regular league programme, edging past
Glasgow Warriors 19-15.

While the Ospreys were celebrating another title, the
Scarlets finished in fifth place to narrowly miss out on a
play-off place with Cardiff Blues winning 10 out of their
22 fixtures and Newport Gwent Dragons ending up in
ninth spot.

Play-Offs

Leinster Rugby 19 – 15 Glasgow Warriors

Ospreys 45 – 10 Munster Rugby

Final

Ospreys 31 – 30 Leinster Rugby (RDS)
Rugby World Cup warm-up internationals 2011

England 23 – 19 Wales

Wales 19 –  9 England

Wales 28 – 13 Argentina

Rugby World Cup 2011

South Africa 17 – 16 Wales

Samoa 10 – 17 Wales

Namibia 7 – 81 Wales

Fiji 0 – 66 Wales

Ireland 10 – 22 Wales (quarter final)

France 9 – 8 Wales (semi final)

Australia 21 – 18 Wales (bronze final)

Dove Men Challenge 2011

Wales 18 – 24 Australia

RBS 6 Nations 2012

Ireland 21 – 23 Wales

Wales 27 – 13 Scotland

England 12 – 19 Wales

Wales 24 – 3 Italy

Wales 16 – 9 France

Under Armour Summer International

Wales 30 – 21 Barbarians

Australia Tour 2012

First Test Australia 27 – 19 Wales

ACT Brumbies 15 – 25 Wales

Second Test Australia 25 – 23

Third Test Australia 20 – 19 Wales
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Wales wear RWC change strip for England warm-up international

RaboDirect PRO12
Club P W D L F A BP Pts

Leinster Rugby   22 18 1 3 568 326 7 81

Ospreys 22 16 1 5 491 337 5 71

Munster Rugby 22 14 1 7 489 367 9 67

Glasgow Warriors 22 13 4 5 445 321 5 65

Scarlets 22 12 2 8 446 373 10 62

Ulster Rugby 22 12 0 10 474 424 8 56

Cardiff Blues 22 10 0 12 446 460 10 50

Connacht Rugby 22 7 1 14 321 433 7 37

Newport Gwent Dragons 22 7 1 14 370 474 6 36

Benetton Treviso 22 7 0 15 419 558 8 36

Edinburgh Rugby 22 6 1 15 454 588 6 32

Aironi 22 4 0 18 289 551 6 22

Ospreys win the RaboDirect PRO12
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LV= Cup

For the third successive season in the seven-year history of
the Anglo-Welsh tournament the final was again a single
nation affair, Leicester Tigers beating Northampton Saints
26-14 at Worcester’s Sixways Stadium after Welsh interest
had ended at the semi-final stages when the Scarlets went
down 27-12 to the Saints at Franklin’s Gardens.

The Scarlets were the only Welsh region to make any sort
of impact on the tournament with the Ospreys, Cardiff
Blues and Newport Gwent Dragons each recording just
one win apiece from their four fixtures.

The Scarlets started with three straight wins en route to
topping Pool 3, their only defeat a 19-14 reverse against
Sale Sharks.

Before that they had beaten eventual winners Leicester
Tigers 31-3, won 30-3 at Cardiff Blues and then made the
most of home advantage to defeat London Irish 27-19.

In the other semi-final the Tigers won 17-16 at Bath Rugby
to set up yet another all-England final.

Heineken Cup, Amlin Challenge Cup

Cardiff Blues qualified for the prestigious knock out stages
of the seventeenth Heineken Cup to become the most
successful Welsh team in the tournament.

The Blues went out to a 34-3 defeat by Leinster at the Aviva
Stadium, after failing to secure home advantage in the last
eight by finishing behind Edinburgh Rugby in Pool 2. 

The Blues did the double over Racing Metro 92 and
London Irish with the contests against Edinburgh going
with home advantage and the Scottish side taking the
group honours courtesy of an extra bonus point.

The Scarlets also finished second in Pool 1 but with only
three wins to their credit, a double over Castres Olympique
and a stunning 28-23 victory at Northampton Saints.

Three of the Heineken Cup group runners-up again
qualified for the Amlin Challenge Cup knock-out stages –
the route the Blues had taken two years earlier to be the
first Welsh team to win an European title – with the
Scarlets going through to meet Brive where they lost 
15-11.
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Leinster v Cardiff Blues in the quarter finals of the Heineken Cup

The Ospreys were third placed in Pool 5 with home wins
against Biarritz Olympique and Benetton Treviso and a
draw in Italy.

Leinster went on to make a successful defence of their title
with a runaway 42-14 win over Ulster Rugby in the all-Irish
Twickenham final and the holders will have the incentive
of the 2013 final being staged on home soil in Dublin.

Newport Gwent Dragons played in the Amlin Challenge
Cup but were up against strong opposition in a group that
included Exeter Chiefs and Perpignan. There was a morale
boosting 23-13 home win against Perpignan but they were
never really in the hunt for knock-out qualification as a
Pool winner.

Wales U20

The year was defined by a complete turnaround by the
U20 squad which culminated in the defeat of the Baby
Blacks in the 2012 Junior World Championship. It was
twelve months since New Zealand had inflicted a heavy

defeat on the Welsh to prompt a review of the age grade
teams structure and performance within the WRU.

Wales became the first nation to beat New Zealand in the
competition when they triumphed 9-6 in atrocious
conditions at the Danie Craven Stadium in Stellenbosch.
Two penalty goals by Tom Prydie and another from
Matthew Morgan produced the biggest upset in the five-
year history of the tournament for Kirby Myhill and his
team-mates on a quagmire of a pitch.

"Huge credit to the boys, they showed massive heart out
there and thoroughly deserved the win,” said head coach
Danny Wilson. Myhill added: "Having been poor in the Six
Nations, our defence was magnificent today and having
lost 92-0 to New Zealand last year, we wanted to prove a
point."

But the Baby Blacks gained revenge when they beat Wales
30-6 in the Newlands semi-final with Prydie kicking two
more penalty goals but New Zealand running in four tries
en route to retaining their title.

Wales U20 v Scotland U20 at Parc Eirias



WALES U20 9 - 6 NEW ZEALAND U20
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However, five days later Wales bounced back by beating
Argentina 25-17 at the Newlands Stadium in Cape Town
to claim third place and put a disappointing earlier Six
Nations campaign behind them when they only beat
Scotland and Italy to finish fourth.

Wales finished in seventh place last season and Wilson
said: "We are pleased with our third place finish. Our
performances and results in this tournament show that
Wales is producing players that can compete with the best
teams in the world which shows that our academy and
regional systems are delivering players.”

Six Nations

Ireland 11 – 6 Wales

Wales 28 – 15 Scotland

England 40 – 9 Wales

Wales 30 – 23 Italy

Wales 16 – 36 France

IRB Junior World Championship

Wales 44 – 18 Fiji

Wales 9 – 6 New Zealand

Wales 74 – 3 Samoa

Semi-Final New Zealand 30 – 6 Wales

Third Place Play-Off Wales 25 – 17 Argentina

Wales U18

Wales U18 finished in fourth place in the FIRA-AER
European Championship in Madrid with head coach Allan
Lewis pleased with the progress shown by his squad during
the eight day tournament. They ran in seven tries in
beating Italy but then suffered narrow defeats to England
in the semi-finals and France in their third place play-off.

"The purpose of playing international rugby at this level is
to develop players for the future," said Lewis, who is also
WRU National Academy Coaching Manager.

"I believe that at this age, the emphasis should be on
challenging the opposition with the ball in hand and it was
an invaluable experience for these boys to play three
competitive games in such a short amount of time.”

Wales defence coach Shaun Edwards spent five days with
the squad and Lewis added: "Shaun is one of, if not the
best and most qualified defence coach in world rugby at
the moment, and for him to have had such a direct

influence on the players at this stage in their development
is fantastic.”

Friendly International

Scotland 12 – 19 Wales

FIRA-AER European Championship 

Wales 41 – 8 Italy

Semi-Final; England 22 – 16 Wales

Third place play-off; France 10 – 7 Wales

Wales Sevens

Wales scored a record number of points in the IRB HSBC
Sevens World Series and finished eighth in the overall
standings for 2011/12.

Head coach Paul John had set his side the target of a top
seven finish at the beginning of the season. His side were
on course throughout a demanding campaign bedevilled
by injuries but a failure to qualify for the Cup quarter-finals
after losing to Fiji and Spain in the last round held at
Twickenham, saw Argentina go through to the Cup
quarter-finals, edging past Wales  by a single point.

Wales went on to finish the season on a high at the home
of English rugby by claiming the Bowl at the Marriott
London Sevens. 

Wales finished with 91 points, which was up from 62 the
previous season, and saw teenager Harry Robinson
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Wales Sevens Plate winners
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Wellington

Wales 14 – 14 Tonga

Wales 19 – 7 Argentina

Wales 0 – 19 Fiji

Cup Quarter-Final Wales 10 – 0 USA 

Bowl Semi-Final Wales 7 – 17 Kenya

Las Vegas

Wales 14 – 12 France

Wales 12 – 29 South Africa

Wales 28 – 7 Uruguay

Cup Quarter-Final Wales 5 – 12 Fiji

Plate Semi-Final Wales 14 – 22 Kenya

Hong Kong

Wales 0 – 10 South Africa

Wales 7 – 24 New Zealand

Wales 42 – 7 USA

Cup Quarter-Final Wales 7 – 31 New Zealand 

Plate Semi-Final Wales 7 – 36 Samoa

Tokyo

Wales 10 – 7 Russia

Wales 22 – 0 Kenya

Wales 17 – 5 Argentina

Cup Quarter-Final Wales 14 – 21 Australia

Plate Semi-Final Wales 10 – 22 South Africa

Edinburgh

Wales 17 – 14 Scotland

Wales 31 – 5 Russia

Wales 17 – 5 South Africa

Cup Quarter-Final Australia 17 – 7 Wales

Plate Semi-Final Wales 12 – 5 Argentina

Plate Final Samoa 31 – 12 Wales

Twickenham

Wales 19 – 12 Zimbabwe

Spain 22 – 7 Wales

Fiji 43 – 7 Wales

Bowl Quarter-Final Wales 28 – 19 USA

Bowl Semi-Final Wales 28 – 26 Portugal

Bowl Final Wales 27 – 5 Scotland

elevated from Sevens to full international status, when the
winger earned his first cap against the Barbarians.

Wales made seven quarter-finals and also made the Plate
final on three separate occasions.

They also recorded their first victory over South Africa in
the World Series and claimed silverware in the Gold Coast
Sevens, where they defeated Samoa 26-15 in the Plate
final. That feat was repeated in Port Elizabeth when Wales
beat Fiji 48-0 in a one-sided Plate final before finishing off
their campaign in style with a 27-5 victory over Scotland
to secure the Bowl at Twickenham.

During the year dual contracting for national sevens squad
players was achieved to help develop the team within a
sustainable squad structure.

IRB Sevens World Series

Gold Coast

Wales 24 – 7 Tonga

Wales 14 – 12 Scotland

Wales 21 – 7 England

Cup Quarter-Final Wales 5 – 33 Fiji

Plate Semi-Final Wales 14 – 12 France

Plate Final Wales 26 – 15 Samoa

Dubai 

Wales 14 – 7 Scotland 

Wales 15 – 12 Canada

Wales 33 – 14 Australia

Cup Quarter-Final Wales 5 – 7 Argentina

Plate Semi-Final Wales 7 – 22 South Africa

Port Elizabeth

Wales 42 – 7 Zimbabwe

Wales 34 – 7 Portugal

Wales 14 – 29 Fiji

Cup Quarter-Final Wales 12 – 21 Samoa 

Plate Semi-Final Wales 24 – 20 France

Plate Final Wales 48 – 0 Fiji
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A Sevens try for Wales

WRU develops Sevens rugby
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Wales Women

Wales Women are in a re-building phase and, as a result,
Rhys Edwards’ young side struggled to make an impact in
the Six Nations. Taking the opportunity to blood a new
generation of players and with one eye on the next Rugby
World Cup to be held in 2014, Wales finished the
campaign in fourth place.

Wales began their tournament brightly with a 20-0 success
against Scotland at Cross Keys’ Pandy Park but then
suffered a heavy 33-0 defeat against eventual champions
England at Twickenham. Wales then suffered a record 36-
0 defeat to Ireland at Ashbourne in a re-scheduled
encounter after the original fixture was abandoned at
halftime because of the freezing conditions. Wales then
secured their second victory with a comfortable 30-13 win
at the Millennium Stadium (the first time the women had
played at the home of Welsh rugby) before losing their
final game 31-0 against France at Pandy Park.

Rosie Fletcher stood out and clearly has a bright future –
small in stature but brave in heart, the young full back was
courageous in defence and exciting in attack. Centre
Rebecca De Filippo was also introduced to international
rugby and alongside the likes of Adi Taviner, Megan York
and Shona Powell Hughes, Wales possess plenty of exciting
talent coming through to suggest better times ahead.

A revised strategy for women’s rugby focussed on the
seven a side game. A clean sweep at the Rugby World Cup
Sevens pre-qualifying tournament in Bulgaria did not
translate into results at the ensuing Rugby World Cup
Sevens qualification tournament in Moscow with Wales
coming 12th from 16. However, after not playing
international Sevens for four years, huge strides were
made with a sevens development programme running

alongside the national sevens programme and four players
identified through sevens are now training with the full
fifteen a side squad.

6 Nations

Wales 20 – 0 Scotland

England 33 – 0 Wales

Ireland 36 – 0 Wales 

Wales 30 – 13 Italy 

Wales 0 – 31 France
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WOMENS 6 NATIONS CHAMPIONSHIP 2012

P W D L F A PD TF Pts

England 5 5 0 0 161 12 +149 24 10

France 5 4 0 1 97 22 +75 10 8

Ireland 5 3 0 2 109 41 +68 1 6  

Wales 5 2 0 3 50 113 -63 8 4

Italy 5 1 0 4 55 157 -102 6 2

Scotland 5 0 0 5 12 139 -127 2 0  

Elen Evans makes history with a Millennium Stadium try
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Last season Llanelli upset Pontypridd to secure the crown
but there was no repeat this time with fly half Lewis
Williams kicking five penalties to edge Pontypridd home in
a game where the pouring rain made handling difficult on
a soggy pitch.

Pontypridd had the better of the first half but let Llanelli
back in with some poor kicking and decision making. 

In the first half clean line breaks were at a premium with
Pontypridd midfielder Dafydd Lockyer – who was later
named Principality Premiership player-of-the-season for a
second successive season – slicing through the Llanelli
defence on a rare decisive foray in the greasy conditions.

Llanelli clawed their way back into the game with two
successful penalties by wing Jordan Williams who added a
fine conversion to the only try of the match, scored by
Craig Price, but Pontypridd held on for the win.

Principality Play-Offs

Premier Play-off (club 2 v club 3)

Llanelli 40 – 26 Aberavon

Premier Play-Off Final

Pontypridd 15 – 13 Llanelli

SWALEC Cup 2012

Quarter-finals

Cross Keys 37 – 24 Cardiff

Ebbw Vale 25 – 19 Swansea

Neath 10 – 23 Pontypridd

Newbridge 13 – 3 UWIC

Semi-finals

Cross Keys 19 – 19 Ebbw Vale 19 
(Cross Keys go through on 2-1 try count)

Pontypridd 28 – 24 Newbridge

Final

Cross Keys 32 – 19 Pontypridd

British & Irish Cup 

Quarter-finals

Ulster A 9 – 20 Munster A

Cross Keys 32 – 8 Llanelli

Leinster A 32 – 0 Pontypridd

Cornish Pirates 33 – 3 Nottingham 

Semi-finals

Cross Keys 20 – 16 Cornish Pirates

Leinster A 29 – 36 Munster A

Final

Munster A 31 – 12 Cross Keys

Semi-Professional Game

Cross Keys were a leading semi-professional Welsh club
qualifying for a final for the first time in their 127-year
history.

The first appearance in a major final came when flanker
and captain, Robert Nash, led them to a 20-16 victory over
Cornish Pirates in the semi-finals of the British & Irish Cup.

That earned them a place in the final in Cork and against
Munster A at Musgrave Park that ended in a 31-12 defeat,
head coach Greg Woods insisting “it was good to
experience the tension and pressure of a final. That’s new
territory for the boys and I know that the pain of losing
will fire them up for the SWALEC Cup final.”

That was final No 2 for the Pandy Park club and this time
they achieved victory by beating Pontypridd 32-19 at the
Millennium Stadium with Nash producing a man-of-the-
match performance.

And there was a second trophy when Woods was named
Principality Premiership coach of the year. 

Pontypridd took top place in the regular season ahead of
Llanelli, Aberavon and Llandovery and went all the way to
claim the team honours in the Principality Premiership.

Llanelli beat Aberavon 40-26 in the Play-Offs but
Pontypridd made sure they did not end the season empty
handed as they battled to a hard-earned 15-13 victory in
the Play-Off Final at Sardis Road.
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Cross Keys win the SWALEC Cup

Pontypridd beat Llanelli in the Principality Play-off Final
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Regional Age Grade Championships

Emerging young player talent throughout Wales is
developed through competitive rugby at a representative
level through the Regional Age Grade competition. This
involves teams at U16 and U18 age grade levels and from
all four regional areas plus the RGC 1404 sides
representing the North Wales development region. At U16
level the competition includes Blues North and Blues South
teams while at U18 the Blues becomes a one-team
regional entity.

The Blues U18 team emerged as winners of their age grade
competition beating the Newport Gwent Dragons in a
close final which ended with at 15 points to 11 scoreline.
It was the third occasion in three years that the title had
gone to the Blues, which Team Manager Iestyn Williams
applauded as a credit to the players and coaching staff.

In the U16 final the Ospreys prevailed against the Blues
South by 32 points to 29 in a pulsating encounter between
two finely balanced teams. It was the Ospreys fifth U16
championship win in eight seasons and was achieved after

the team trailed a strong Blues South outfit by 22 points
to 6 at half time.

Charities

The Welsh Rugby Charitable Trust remained the main focus
of charitable work associated to the WRU throughout the
year. Income was generated directly from the WRU, via big
match bucket collections and other charitable donations.

The President of the Welsh Rugby Union was appointed
Chairman on the retirement from the role of Tom Baxter-
Wright. Later in the year, the Duke of Cambridge accepted
an invitation to become Royal Patron of the charity.

The WRU also continued its membership of the Princes’
Charities Forum chaired by the Duke of Cambridge in
which a variety of UK charities and associated
organisations liaise to help realise their common goals.

The Wales National Squad continued to devote time and
energy to a number of charitable causes through
promotions and visits throughout the year.

TH E  WE L SH  R UGBY  UN I ON  L IM I T E D  -  A NNUA L  R E PORT  2 0 1 246

Elite rugby review

Ospreys U16 - Age Grade Champions
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Significant changes and important initiatives were put in
place during the year aimed at improving community
rugby throughout Wales. The WRU clearly indicated its
commitment to the community game by allocating £1m
of extra spending on grassroots rugby. This included, a
facilities grant scheme of £500,000 to community clubs
with individual amounts of up to £50,000 to help improve
clubs, £200,000 was allocated for investment in new
recruitment initiatives within rugby clubs and £200,000
was allocated to develop schools and college rugby. All this
extra resource was agreed in a conscious effort to stimulate
participation and involvement in the game by people of all
ages and with a wide range of rugby ambitions. The overall
focus of the activity was to ensure the sustainability and
assist the development of the grassroots game to reflect
its importance to the sport in Wales.

It is recognised that the success of the elite game and the
player development pathway are dependent on a
flourishing community game.

An overhaul of staffing levels and roles within the Rugby
Department was completed towards the end of 2011 to
ensure the raft of new initiatives and projects were
properly resourced and managed.

The WRU’s Rugby Development Department now works
to a four year rolling development programme in the
community game which is specifically aimed at increasing
participation levels across the age spectrum in Wales. The
departmental aims were refined around the priorities of
achieving an increase in playing opportunities in schools,
developing the player talent identification process,
introducing leisure rugby choices, improving coach
development and contributing to the wider health agenda.

Within the staffing restructure a new-look team was
tasked under the National Development Manager Jason
Lewis with his colleague Gethin Watts focusing on the elite
pathway as National Performance Manager.

The community focused Rugby Development team now
includes five Regional Development Managers, two Coach
Development Managers, one Rugby Partnership Manager,
twenty Development Officers and fourteen Participation
Officers. The Participation Officers are all contracted until
2014 and were recruited with funding from Sport Wales
worth £400,000 per annum. In all 19 new members of
staff were recruited within the department during the year
to fulfil the strategic and operational aims of the unit.
Operating in schools and rugby clubs, the Development
Officers are also tasked with explaining the lifestyle and
health benefits of participation in all forms of rugby.
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Glyncoch win the SWALEC Bowl
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Alongside the refocused work of the Rugby Development
Department the WRU embarked on a body of work aimed
at gathering meaningful statistics and information related
to the community game. The Rugby Club Census was
launched to gather information related to the running of
the club game across Wales. Some 282 clubs took part in
the independent census and the information gathered was
added to the statistics already available to the Rugby
Development Department for analysis. A fundamental and
important outcome of the analysis was the confirmation
that the number of people participating in rugby union in
Wales had increased since 2010.

The Census found that;

• there are currently more than 50,000 male registered
players attached to WRU affiliated clubs

• that the average age of individuals holding a club
position in Wales is 48

• on average a volunteer contributes eight hours each
week to the running of Welsh rugby clubs

• 96% of teams have first aid available at all games and
75% have first aid available at training sessions  

• nine out of ten clubs run a bar, 65% hire out facilities,
30% sell club merchandise, 69% have some kind of
commercial sponsorship and 88% of clubs have a
website  

• the use of the WRU online information facility MyWRU
is actively used by 71% of clubs to access and share
operational details.  

A raft of other statistics revealed an illuminating insight
into the state of the Welsh game and the details will now
be analysed internally to help plan for the future. The
Census was commissioned to help determine policy and
strategy within the community game within the declared
aim of understanding and improving grassroots rugby.

While this work was underway, a raft of projects and
initiatives to benefit junior rugby were  unveiled. The Minis
To Millennium programme introduced variations to the
laws of rugby for participants from U8 to U16 levels. The
aim of the changes is to create more skilful players and
encourage more youngsters to stay involved in the sport
by introducing the intricate contact laws more gradually as
they get older. The emphasis for the younger players is on
creating an open game to maximise the enjoyment for
children. There are new rules which prohibit rucking, limit
tackling and remove focus from the set piece game. There

are also limits on competitive rugby up to U11 to ensure
the focus for children is on having fun through rugby.  The
new player pathway programme was available to every
child in Wales playing club and school rugby. These
programmes were organised under the Minis To
Millennium banner. Feedback from that work is being used
to refine the curriculum for the year ahead.

Throughout the year 32,200 children from U8 level to U14
took part in four weeks of coaching from Development

Junior players are a prority
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This means that the community and elite elements of the
Welsh game are intertwined and operate within structures
and strategies which are totally aligned and
complimentary.

During the year, the Board agreed to support a move to
encourage clubs below Divisions One East and One West
to stop payments to players. The WRU decided that all
available funding should be utilised in improving club
facilities and promoting sustainability through greater
participation in the sport.

Another aspect of the community focus during the year
was the introduction of the Join The Beat programme to
help clubs attract more players, coaches, administrators
and various volunteers. A weekend of events in January
2012 saw clubs encourage people not currently involved
in the game to turn up to find out how they could take
part in the sport. This weekend was the initial phase of a
rolling programme which is continuing and developing as
a means of delivering public focus on the needs of the
community game and the clubs involved.

The WRU also worked towards achieving specific standards
within the national child protection framework. This work
was recognised when the WRU was awarded the NSPCC
Safeguarding and Protecting Children standard following
an extensive evaluation process. The framework has been
jointly developed by NSPCC Cymru/Wales and Sport Wales
to help raise child protection standards in sport.

Again with the emphasis on youth, during the year a closer
relationship was unveiled with the Urdd, students, schools
and colleges with the appointment of Adrian Evans to the
role of Relationships Manager. His role is to foster greater
alignments with relevant bodies.

A significant measure which strengthens these alignments
was the announcement that the annual Cardiff University
versus Swansea University encounter will be staged at the
Millennium Stadium until 2014. This year’s fixture attracted

some 15,000 spectators as it forges a strong position in
the annual sporting calendar in Wales. The Wales Students
team was resurrected with a fixture against England to
boost the profile of age grade sport. Towards the end of
the 2011/12 season, the WRU and S4C partnered a
broadcasting experiment to boost the College Rugby
League. Three matches were webcast live by S4C on their
website with three corresponding half hour long highlights
programmes featured on the main broadcast channel.
Talks were underway before the end of the year with a
view to expanding the experiment in season 2012/13 with
a broadcast schedule featuring more live games and
programmes.

Ten new District Clubs were granted full membership of
the WRU during the year. They were Bro Ffestiniog RFC,
Bryncethin RFC, Caerleon RFC, COBRA RFC, Nantgaredig
RFC, New Panteg RFC, Penlan RFC, Wattstown RFC,
Blackwood Stars RFC and Clwb Rygbi Caerdydd.

Work also continued in preparation for the RGC 1404
North Wales representative team to be included in Division
One East from the start of season 2012/13. This was part
of the ongoing focus within the North Wales Strategic Plan
to enhance rugby within the designated development
region.

In a celebration of rugby during the year a book entitled
Grassroots Rugby was published featuring photographs of
the community rugby game across Wales. This joint project
between Y Lolfa publishers, Newport University and the
WRU was borne out of the Grassroots Project in which
university student photographers travelled around Wales
gathering images of the game at grassroots level.

The focus on the community game developed during the
year with clear evidence that amateur rugby will remain a
priority and therefore attract strategic and operational
focus in the long term. It was clearly recognised by the
Executive and the Board that these objectives have to be

Officers and Community Coaches. A total of 22,500
children between U10 and U14 played in a minimum of
three WRU organised rugby festivals. Some 73% of the
secondary schools of Wales received visits from WRU
development and participation officers to deliver rugby
learning sessions to children from school years’ seven to
nine. The department introduced a Rugby Stars project to
encourage children to take up the game.

The WRU worked with the Welsh Touch Association to
improve and develop organised leagues and introduced
Atomic Rugby which is a form of the sport ideal for adults
seeking to return to physical activity through sport. The
Rugby Stars programme for children attracted some 1,100
participants through the year, with the more senior forms
of the Touch game securing 6,500 new players.

There was also a range of activity related to schools rugby
based around more dialogue and management of the
schools game.  Schools rugby has been signposted as a key
area of development with evidence of a new purpose in
achieving set goals throughout the year. A total of 27
festivals took place to get children playing rugby at U12
and U13 with 33 festivals for the U14 age group
youngsters. Coaching in rugby movement and skills
development was delivered to 17,700 primary school
children and 10,000 of those youngsters took part in the
festivals. Within the clubs some 60 additional festivals were

held to ensure that children achieved access to rugby
through the full range of delivery routes used by the
development staff.

This year saw the introduction of development combines
to replace district junior squads. These combines tested the
fitness and rugby development of youngsters through
upbeat and active sessions, which also gathered data for
research and strategic planning. 1,067 mini, junior and
youth teams were active in season 2011/12 which
compares with 899 teams in Welsh rugby during season
2005/06.

The changes to internal structures and associated
personnel were aimed at strengthening the ability to
deliver a range of community activities that primarily
encourage children to play rugby.

While the development pathway is in place to ensure the
best and most determined are helped to achieve their full
potential it is also now geared to assisting those who want
to enjoy the social, lifestyle and health advantages of the
sport.

The development operation within the community game
links grassroots rugby with the pathway which is
supported through the rugby department work at the
WRU National Centre of Excellence at the Vale Resort near
Cardiff.
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Cardiff University versus Swansea University announcement

Join the Beat launch
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Divisional Champions

One East Ebbw Vale

One West Tata Steel

Two East Ystrad Rhondda

Two West Glynneath

Three East Garndiffaith

Three West Haverfordwest

Three South East Llanishen

Three South West Maesteg Harlequins

Four East Cardiff Quins

Four West Llanelli Wanderers

Four South East Porth Harlequins

Four South West Maesteg Celtic

Five East Monmouth

Five West Fishguard and Goodwick

Five South East Old Illtydians

Five South West Penlan

Five South Central Bryncethin

Six East Caerleon

Six West Pontrhydyfen

Six Central Glyncoch

One North Caernarfon

Two North Dolgellou

Three North Shotton Steel

SWALEC Plate   

Quarter-finals

Bethesda 34 – 6 Pontypool Utd

Cwmllynfell 10 – 36 Ystrad Rhondda

Nant Conwy 18 – 13 Bluith Wells

Penallta 18 – 8 Maesteg Quins

Semi-finals

Bethesda 3 – 30 Penallta

Ystrad Rhondda 3 – 9 Nant Conwy

Final

Nant Conwy 15 – 21 Penallta

SWALEC Bowl  

Quarter-finals

Dolgellau 11 – 18 Talywain

Glyncoch 18 – 16 Amman United

Resolven 17 – 22 New Tredegar

Tycroes 27 – 24 Caeleon

Semi-finals

Glyncoch 24 – 21 Talywain

New Tredegar 38 – 31 Tycroes

Final

Glyncoch 15 – 14 New Tredegar

Women’s Rugby

At grass roots level Women and Girls Development Centres
at U13 were launched across Wales. Centres were
established in each region based on the best location in
terms of geography and population. In the first two
months over 100 new girls were engaged across Wales.
This programme is linked to the new Atomic Touch delivery
in local comprehensive schools.

Five regional U18 festivals were held across Wales to invite
new and existing schools and clubs to join in and over 300
players took part in these events.

built into the departmental structures and aims in order to
be achieved. A review was completed by a Community
Game Funding Working Party which concluded future
investment will be based on rugby, recruitment and
retention initiatives.

Match Officials

The Level 1 Referee courses held throughout Wales
attracted more than 600 delegates during the year.
Courses were also conducted in schools and colleges
across the year and 39 referees successfully completed
their Level 2 inductions. The mantra continues to be No
Referee – No Game, to drive home the message that the
development of match officials will remain a priority.  The
National Referee Academy continued to flourish
throughout the year with significant progress made
through the exchange programme set up in partnership
with the RFU.  Important fixtures within the sporting
calendar again proved to be useful events within which to
promote the development of match officials through the
system.

SWALEC Finals Day at the Millennium Stadium proved to
be a growing success with the three games officiated by
WRU match officials, Alan Jenkins, Greg Morgan and Sean
Brickell.  Dewi Phillips officiated at the Webb Ellis Welsh
Youth Cup Final in another key game within the year.

One issue which again required attention was the work
carried out to limit referee abuse at all levels of the game.
The WRU will continue to work hard to eradicate the abuse
which is completely unacceptable within the game of
rugby at any level.

Coach Development

Four new Coach Development Officers were recruited
through the year to focus on increasing the volume and
skill level of coaching staff in the grassroots game. These
new roles mean that there is coach development staff in
each region. 

There were increases across the board in the number of
courses held across Wales and a particular success was the
Scrum Ready events supervised by ex-Wales prop forward
Chris Horsman. There were also 226 mentoring sessions
involving 473 coaches to support their activities. 

During the year an important online facility called the
Coaches Locker was unveiled and featured prominently on
the BBC Wales Scrum V programme. This offers a detailed
package of diagrams, videos and text information to aid

coaches to improve themselves. The Coach Development
Team also played an important role in helping to organise
and deliver the Six Nations Coaching Conference in
Perpignan, France.

SWALEC National Leagues

Once again, Ebbw Vale led the way in SWALEC Division
One East by retaining the title they won last year. This time
there were nine points between them and this season’s
runners-up, Bargoed. The Steelmen fully deserved their
‘champions’ status by losing only three league matches
throughout the season.

Tata Steel, formerly Corus (Port Talbot), were One West
champions after edging out Narberth by just one point,
with third-placed Carmarthen Athletic 14 points further
adrift. Tata Steel’s 30-30 draw at Llanharan on Bonfire
Night proved crucial to the outcome.

Caernarfon are the top side in North Wales for the second
year running after winning One North by five points from
Nant Conwy. Dolgellau were clear champions of Two North
after completing their season 15 points ahead of second-
placed COBRA.

In Two East, Ystrad Rhondda led throughout the season
scoring 92 tries to claim the title by four points from
Penallta, while Two West went to Glynneath who crossed
for a staggering 100 tries in their 22 championship-
winning matches. It was their second title-winning season
in succession after claiming the Three South West crown
last year.

It was a close race in Three West with Haverfordwest
taking the title by just one point from Dunvant, but there
was no doubting the winners of Three South West as
Maesteg Quins finished the season with a 100% record to
end up 15 points clear of second-placed Seven Sisters. It
was a unique double for Quins who also won Four South
West last year without losing a match.

Four East champions Cardiff Quins edged out Talywain by
virtue of a better try record after both sides finished level
on points.

In Four West there was a three-horse race going into the
final stages with Llanelli Wanderers claiming the title by a
point from Amman United with Milford Haven a further
point behind.

Monmouth racked up 129 tries to become Five East
champions while in Five West, Nantgaredig’s 109 tries
were not enough as Fishguard beat them to the title.
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In YE12 the stadium received significant public recognition
which reflected its continuing success and developing
reputation as an iconic multi-event stadium.

The importance that Stadium Manager, Gerry Toms, and
his operational team have placed on environmental
sustainability was recognised with a landmark award.  The
Millennium Stadium became the first stadium in the UK to
be granted the status of a sustainable event venue when
BSi, the leading independent business services
organisation, granted the Millennium Stadium the BS8901
standard. This is the standard for Sustainability
Management Systems for Events and confirms the

stadium’s commitment to managing its social, economic
and environmental impact activity.

One major project aimed at reducing the stadium’s impact
on the environment was the installation of over 450 LED
light fittings to replace the original fluorescent lighting
system.  This was achieved in partnership with the power
company SWALEC and helped to significantly reduce
energy consumption. The LED fittings offer the best energy
savings of any available lighting source and are expected
to significantly reduce energy consumption. Aligned to this
important level of activity, the stadium also won the
Environmental Sustainability title at the 2011 International
Sports Event Management Awards.  

This focus on stadium infrastructure was also reflected in
a comprehensive maintenance and re-fit programme
which continued to sustain and develop the venue which
was completed and opened in 1999. In the latter end of
the financial year, work was started on a new floodlight
system which was installed in time for the arrival of the
London Olympics 2012 soccer internationals and a fit out
programme of the hospitality facilities of the stadium. Also
as part of the refurbishment, new Anti Terrorist Vehicle
Protection measures were installed around the stadium. 

The stadium’s success was also recognised when it was
given the status of the best rugby venue of the year by the
Rugby Expo Awards 2011 organisation, which recognises
excellence from both the professional and grassroots
game.

All these activities were achieved in parallel to a schedule
of events which attracted a number of capacity crowds
into the stadium.  In a break from the usual annual match
format, rugby internationals were played against England
and Argentina in the summer of 2011 in preparation for

The international status and reputation of the Millennium
Stadium was clearly a determining factor for the family of
the late Michael Jackson when selecting the venue for a
tribute concert to the memory of the singer. They
considered competition from the USA, Europe and Asia,
but the Millennium Stadium became the chosen venue to
host the event. It again epitomised the stadium’s
advantages of having a city centre location, a closing roof
and a removable pitch combined with a crowd capacity of
more than 75,000.  American celebrities such as Christina
Aguilera and Smokey Robinson performed at the concert
which also featured members of the Jackson family along
with some 37,000 fans.

Details were confirmed of the stadium’s role for soccer
matches in the 2012 London Olympics and for the Rugby
League World Cup in 2013 and we remain optimistic that
we will be able to secure games in the Rugby World Cup
2015 at the stadium.

A formal announcement was made detailing how the
opening ceremony and important games for the Rugby
League event will take place in the Millennium Stadium.
Following the opening ceremony there will be rugby
league internationals between Wales and Italy and a clash
between co-hosts England and Australia. Along with other
group games, the stadium will also host a quarter final
match.

That announcement was made against a backdrop of
behind-the-scenes preparations at the stadium for the
arrival of the London Olympics in August 2012.
Throughout the year work was underway to plan and
prepare the stadium for the arrival of Olympic Games
soccer internationals.  Many of the stadium staff were
seconded to the Olympic operational team to ensure their
expertise was utilised for the 11 international football
matches to be hosted in July and August 2012. During the
year, London 2012 staff attended a number of major
events at the stadium to study the operational planning
and match-day protocols.
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Thousands of fans watch Wales train at the Stadium

Michael Jackson Tribute Concert

A record year for Millennium Stadium Tour Guides
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The stadium proved to be a major attraction in its own
right with the number of people attending the organised
tours increasing dramatically. An administrative,
operational and content review of the tour structure
proved to be a catalyst for a substantial increase in visitor
take-up. From a previous highest total of visitors in YE07
of 48,300 the organised tours attracted a total of 59,600
during YE12.

Throughout the year the stadium also hosted its normal
array of community events with small organisations and
companies taking advantage of the remit which promotes
the use of the venue by local bodies.

Within its wider charity remit the stadium was plunged into
darkness to support the World Wildlife Fund Earth Hour
project which saw major venues and buildings around the
world turn off their lights.

Charities 

Support continued for the Millennium Stadium Charitable
Trust (MSCT) which was set up to offer grant aid to smaller
charities and organisations based around Wales. The
beneficiaries cover a range of interests with sporting and
non-sporting organisations benefitting from support.

During the year the MSCT achieved a milestone and has
now donated more than £4m to charitable organisations
across Wales.

the Rugby World Cup. Also, before the squad set off for
New Zealand they were all invited to attend a farewell
barbecue hosted on the pitch. In addition, during the
summer of 2011 the WRU’s strong relationship with
former Welsh internationals was celebrated with another
party on the pitch for the ex-Welsh stars and their families.

Across the year the declared priority of the stadium to be
the home of Welsh international rugby and champion the
national sport of Wales was evident. During the 2011
Rugby World Cup in New Zealand, the WRU decided to
open the stadium so that fans could turn up free of charge
to watch big screen coverage of the Wales v France semi-
final.  Even though the game was being played 12,000
miles away on the other side of the world some 60,000
Welsh rugby supporters decided to attend the event and
cheer on their heroes. The unique nature of the event
attracted widespread publicity and confirmed the status of
Welsh rugby fans as some of the most loyal and
enthusiastic in the game. So even without the players
present, the Millennium Stadium became the focus for
national support and the day proved to be a major event
for the city of Cardiff.
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Stadium review

The Olympics come to Wales

Fans watch big-screen coverage at the Millennium Stadium of the Wales v France RWC semi-final

Russell Goodway, Chairman of MSCT presents a MSCT cheque

A boost unveiled for Stadium hospitality
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The Directors present their report and the Group and
Company’s audited financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2012.

Principal activities and review of the business

The principal activity of the Group is to promote, foster,
encourage, control and improve rugby football throughout
Wales. This activity and the likely future development of
the Group are reviewed in the Chairman’s Statement, the
Group Chief Executive’s Summary and the Operating and
Financial Review.

Results for the year

The results for the year are set out in the consolidated
profit and loss account on page 64 and show a profit
before tax of £2.4m (2011: £2.7m).

Financial risk factors

The Group is exposed to financial risks from interest
bearing assets and liabilities and interests in overseas
companies. These expose the Group to financial risks
including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. 

• Foreign exchange risk

Where applicable, the Group mitigates foreign
exchange risk with the use of forward contracts. As at
30 June 2012, the Group has no material foreign
exchange risk (2011: nil).

• Interest rate risk

The Group has interest bearing liabilities.  As shown in
Note 14, the Group’s policy is to part hedge against
any interest risk on liabilities by using derivative
instruments to effectively hedge the interest rate risk.
The Group has interest bearing assets which are
invested at differing interest rates; these interest rates
are fixed at the outset of the investment.

• Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk.  The Group has implemented policies that require
appropriate credit checks on potential credit customers
before sales commence. Interest bearing assets are only
invested with financial institutions that have excellent
credit ratings.

• Liquidity risk

The Group maintains a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility.  As at 30 June 2012, only 26%
(2011: 22%) of the borrowings were due to expire
within five years. On 29 June 2012 the Group
restructured its debt facilities; details of the restructure
are shown in Note 13.

Fixed assets

The Millennium Stadium, recorded at a carrying value in
the financial statements of some £94m (2011: £98m) is a
unique asset. The asset is recorded at historical cost and
due to the unique nature of the asset an alternative use
valuation is not considered appropriate. If the Millennium
Stadium was valued at replacement cost the carrying value
recorded in the financial statements would be c.£200m.

Directors

The Directors who held office during the year and up to
the date of signing the financial statements are noted on
page 89.

Donations

The Group’s primary charitable donation was £37,000
(2011: £61,000) to the Welsh Rugby Charitable Trust. This
trust, which is independent from the Group, was set up to
provide support to players who were injured whilst playing
rugby in Wales. There were no political donations (2011:
£nil). 

Policy on payment to creditors

The Group and Company’s policy, concerning the payment
of the majority of its trade creditors, is to:

• set the terms of payment with those suppliers when
agreeing the terms of each transaction

• ensure that those suppliers are made aware of the
terms of payment by inclusion of the relevant terms
in contracts

• pay in accordance with its contractual and other legal
obligations

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”)

The KPIs of the Group are the:

Rugby performance

• Success of the National Squad

• Performance of the Group’s four Regions

• Performance of the Group’s Age-Grade teams

Participation in rugby

• Development of the elite player talent within Wales

• Participation levels in Community Rugby, including
women and junior numbers

Financial performance

• Generation of sufficient earnings before interest,
depreciation, allocations and exceptional items
(“EBITDA”), over the medium term, to fulfil the
Group’s objectives and obligations

• Number of and attendances at international rugby
matches, featuring the National Squad, held at the
Millennium Stadium

• Utilisation of the Millennium Stadium for non-
National Squad events

• Provision of consistent and affordable levels of
funding to clubs and affiliated organisations to allow
them to implement long term plans to fulfil their
objectives

Business risk

The Group feels that the principal risks facing the business
include:

• The performance of the National Squad

• The identification, nurturing, development and
retention of Welsh players

• The identification, nurturing, development and
retention of coaches and officials alongside
appropriate elite systems and structures 

• The sustainability of the four Regions

• The extent of involvement and enjoyment in
community rugby

• The securing of non-National Squad related events
and activities at the Millennium Stadium

• The alignment of commercial strategies to deliver the
rugby and stadium strategies

• The provision of adequate banking facilities

• The physical security and insurance of its main assets,
primarily the Millennium Stadium, and

• The implementation of appropriate business systems
and controls covering financial  management,
commercial operations and other key business areas

All the above risks are regularly assessed by the Executive
Board and actions are taken to mitigate any issues that
arise.

TH E  WE L SH  R UGBY  UN I ON  L IM I T E D  -  A NNUA L  R E PORT  2 0 1 260

Operating and financial review
Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) and business risks 

Directors’ report
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Gareth Williams, Company Secretary

WRU Board Directors at work
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• prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company’s and Group’s transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and the Group and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection
of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.  

Disclosure of information to auditors

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware

and the Directors have taken all the steps necessary to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to convey that information to the Company’s auditors.

Independent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their
willingness to continue in office and a resolution to
reappoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Gareth Williams
Company Secretary
30 August 2012 

Corporate social responsibility

The Group recognises its responsibility to the communities
which are affected by its businesses and continually
reviews its policies with regard to social, ethical and
environmental matters. Any matters in any of these
categories which may materially affect the business of the
Group are reviewed periodically by the Board.

Going concern

The Directors believe that the Company and the Group
have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and it therefore
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have prepared the Group and Company financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (UK Accounting Standards
and applicable law).  Under company law, the Directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or
loss of the Group for that year. In preparing these financial
statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Parc Eirias opening

Adam Jones receives Grand Slam acclaim
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Consolidated profit and loss account
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Turnover 2 (a) 63,183 54,254

Administrative expenses 2 (b) (59,068) (50,501)

Operating profit before depreciation,
exceptional items and allocations to 
affiliated organisations (“EBITDA”) 27,632 26,173
Allocations to affiliated organisations 2 (d) (20,132) (19,281)
Exceptional items 4 (235) -
Depreciation (net of grant release) 4 (3,150) (3,139)

Operating profit 4,115 3,753

Interest payable and similar charges 3 (1,083) (1,015)
Interest receivable and similar income 3 77 128
Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments 3 (723) (161)

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 2,386 2,705

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 6 (1,770) (789)

Profit for the financial year 18 616 1,916

The turnover and operating profit shown above are derived from continuing operations.  There are no recognised gains and losses
other than those shown above and the net actuarial (loss)/gain on the pension scheme as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
total recognised gains and losses below.

Consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses
for the year ended 30 June 2012

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Profit for the financial year 616 1,916

Actuarial (loss)/gain on pension scheme (211) 428
Movement in deferred tax on pension scheme - (120)
Net effect of pension scheme (211) 308

Total gains recognised in the year 405 2,224

2012 2011 2012 2011
Group Group Company Company

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 8 136,159 140,338 38,462 38,614
Investments 9 - - 60 60

136,159 140,338 38,522 38,674
Current assets
Stock 10 191 318 - -
Deferred tax asset 16 - - 222 -
Financial assets
- Derivative financial asset 14 - 51 - 51
- Debtors 11 4,051 3,568 74,472 68,909
- Cash at bank and in hand 12 831 382 565 309

5,073 4,319 75,259 69,269
Current liabilities
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 13 (30,888) (23,944) (23,237) (18,962)

Net current (liabilities)/assets (25,815) (19,625) 52,022 50,307

Total assets less current liabilities 110,344 120,713 90,544 88,981

Creditors – amounts falling due 13 (61,360) (68,410) (61,106) (68,059)
after more than one year

Accruals and deferred income 15 (41,154) (43,001) - -

Provisions for liabilities 16 (2,146) (4,023) - -

Net assets excluding pension liabilities 5,684 5,279 29,438 20,922

Pension liabilities 21 - - - -

Net assets including pension liabilities 5,684 5,279 29,438 20,922

Capital and reserves
Other reserves 18 2,314 2,314 2,610 2,610
Profit and loss account 18 3,370 2,965 26,828 18,312

Capital employed 5,684 5,279 29,438 20,922

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2012 and signed on its behalf by:

David Pickering Roger Lewis
Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer
The notes on pages 67 to 87 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The Welsh Rugby Union Limited
Company Number 3419514

Balance sheets
as at 30 June 2012
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1. Accounting policies

The Group’s financial statements are prepared on the going
concern basis, under the historical cost convention, excluding
adjustments to historical cost attributable to fair value
movements, in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and
applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.  The
Group’s accounting policies, which have been applied
consistently, are as set out below.

a. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of The Welsh Rugby Union Limited and its
subsidiaries, Millennium Stadium plc, WRU Supporters Club
Limited, WRU National Centre of Excellence Limited and WRU
Debentures Limited, all of which are made up to 30 June 2012
and prepared using consistent accounting policies. All intergroup
transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

b. Turnover 

Turnover represents amounts invoiced, excluding value added tax,
in respect of the sale of goods and services. Ticket income, sale
of hospitality packages, competition income and other event
income are recognised as revenue when the related event is
staged. Revenue determined by commercial contracts, which
makes up the majority of broadcasting revenue, sponsorship and
royalty revenue and lease of hospitality boxes is recognised based
on the relevant contractual terms. Where consideration is
received in kind, income and expenditure are grossed up on the
basis of arms’ length commercial rates.     

c. Exceptional items

In order to improve the understanding of the financial
statements, the Directors have identified separately, on the face
of the profit and loss account, those items of income and charge
which by their size, nature and/or incidence are exceptional to
the financial statements for the year.  These are shown as
exceptional within the categories of expenditure to which they
relate.

d. Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at historic cost less accumulated
depreciation. Cost includes the original purchase price of the
asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its
working condition for its intended use. 

The tangible fixed assets of the Group, excluding land, are
depreciated on a straight line basis calculated to write down their
cost to estimated residual values over their estimated useful
economic lives as follows: 

Buildings Up to 50 years

Fixtures and fittings Up to 5 years

Plant and machinery Up to 10 years

Leasehold buildings are depreciated over the lower of 50 years
and the remaining life of the lease.

e. Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included at cost less any provision
for impairment.

f. Trade investments

Trade investments are valued at cost less any provision for
impairment.

g. Leased assets

Where the Group enters into a lease which entails taking
substantially all the risks and rewards of an asset, the lease is
treated as a “hire purchase arrangement”.  The present value of
the minimum lease payments is recorded in the balance sheet as
a tangible fixed asset.  Future instalments under such leases, net
of finance charges, are included within creditors.  Rentals payable
are apportioned between the finance element, which is charged
to the profit and loss account, and the capital element which
reduces the outstanding hire purchase liability.

All other leases are accounted for as “operating leases” and their
rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight
line basis over the life of the lease.

h. Stock

Stock is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value and
consists of finished goods purchased for resale. Where necessary,
provision is made for obsolete, slow moving and defective stock.
Cost is determined on a first in first out basis.

i. Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full on all material timing differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised where their recovery is
considered more likely than not.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities
have not been discounted.

j. Pension costs 

The Group operates defined contribution schemes and a defined
benefit pension scheme.

The pension costs in respect of the defined contribution pension
schemes comprise contributions payable in respect of the year. 

The assets of the defined benefit scheme are measured using
closing bid-market rates. Pension scheme liabilities are measured

2012 2012 2011 2011
Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 22 9,715 9,107

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 77 128
Interest paid (1,110) (1,098)

Net cash outflow from returns on investments (1,033) (970)
and servicing of finance

Taxation (471) (64)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (718) (3,750)
Grant repaid (100) (100)
Grant received - 1,766

Net cash outflow for capital expenditure and (818) (2,084)
financial investment

Financing
Drawdown of bank loans 19,600 3,500
Repayment of bank loans (26,592) (10,044)
Debenture issue 48 236
Capital element of hire purchase repayments - (299)

Net cash outflow in respect of financing (6,944) (6,607)

Increase/(decrease) in net cash in the year 23 449 (618)

The notes on pages 67 to 87 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2012
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2. Segmental information

As set out in the Directors’ report, the Group has only one business segment and all income is derived from activities within the UK.
The information below is provided as additional information.    

Business analysis

(a) Turnover 

2012 2011
Turnover is analysed as follows: £’000 £’000

Match income 35,200 30,543
Competition income 9,177 9,111
Commercial income 12,264 11,241
Other event income 516 2,657
Other income 6,026 702

63,183 54,254

Other event income represents amounts receivable in respect of staging fees and other similar income arising within the Millennium
Stadium for events which are not promoted by the Company.  Other income includes £4.8m (2011: £nil) in respect of a grant from the
International Rugby Board Trust and £0.2m (2011: £0.1m) of grants received from Sport Wales matched by expenditure included in
community rugby costs.  

(b) Total costs are as follows: 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Operational costs (see (c) below) 35,551 28,081
Exceptional costs 235 -
Depreciation – net of grant release 3,150 3,139
Allocations to affiliated organisations (see (d) below) 20,132 19,281

59,068 50,501

(c) Operational costs: 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Business & administration 5,831 5,508
Direct 15,831 12,120
Elite rugby 4,126 4,025
Community rugby 2,079 1,921
Stadium 7,684 4,507

35,551 28,081

(d) Allocations to affiliates 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

These are analysed as follows:
Regions – professional rugby 15,137 14,954
Clubs – semi-professional rugby 1,163 1,210
Clubs – community rugby & affiliates 3,832 3,117

20,132 19,281

using the projected unit method and discounted at the current
rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term
and currency to the liability.  The increase in the present value of
the liabilities of the defined benefit scheme expected to arise
from employee service in the year is charged to operating profit.
The expected return on the scheme’s assets and the increase
during the year in the present value of the scheme’s liabilities,
arising from the passage of time, are included in net interest
payable.  Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of total recognised gains and losses.

k. Grants

Grants receivable in respect of tangible fixed assets are credited
to the profit and loss account over the expected useful economic
lives of the relevant assets to which they relate. Grants received
but not yet released to the profit and loss account are included
as deferred income in the balance sheet. Revenue grants are
released to the profit and loss account in the same year as the
related expense.

l. Capitalisation of interest

Interest is capitalised on major development projects and capital
works in progress where appropriate. Capitalisation ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to get the asset ready for
use are completed. Capitalised interest is amortised to the profit
and loss account over the useful economic life of the asset to
which it relates.

m. Financial instruments

The derivative instruments utilised by the Group are interest rate
swaps and foreign currency forward contracts.  Derivatives are
initially accounted for and measured at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and subsequently measured at
fair value based on market price data from relevant
counterparties. The gain or loss on re-measurement is taken to
the profit and loss account except where the derivative is a
designated cash flow hedging instrument. Whilst the Directors
are of the belief that these derivatives are commercially effective
hedges, the Group’s derivatives do not qualify for hedge
accounting under FRS 26 in either 2012 or 2011. The instruments
are carried at fair value with changes in fair value being
recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.

n. Trade debtors

Trade debtors are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost less provision for
impairment. They are first assessed individually for impairment,
or collectively where the debtors are not individually significant.
Where there is no objective evidence of impairment for an
individual debtor, it is included in a group of debtors with similar
credit risk characteristics and these are assessed collectively for
impairment based on their ageing. Movements in the provision
for impairment are recorded in the profit and loss account.

o. Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand includes highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

TH E  WE L SH  R UGBY  UN I ON  L IM I T E D  -  A NNUA L  R E PORT  2 0 1 268

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2012



TH E  WE L SH  R UGBY  UN I ON  L IM I T E D  -  A NNUA L  R E PORT  2 0 1 2 71

4. Profit on ordinary activities before tax (continued)

During the year, the Group incurred charges that due to their size and nature were considered “exceptional”.  In order to assist in
understanding the Group’s results the Directors believe that it is appropriate to show separately the operating profit of the Group
before exceptional items on the face of the profit and loss account as additional information.  Detailed commentary is shown below:

(a) The litigation costs in 2012 primarily arose from the Group’s defence to the case brought by Pontypool, contesting the
composition of the revised Principality Premiership.

(b) During the year to June 2012 the Group undertook a programme of restructuring. The costs for redundancies and compensation
for loss of office were identified as an exceptional cost. 

During the year, the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor:

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Fees payable to Company auditor for the audit of the parent company and consolidated accounts 26 26

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for other services:
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 23 23
Taxation services 21 21
Other services 131 60

5. Staff numbers and costs

Staff numbers 2012 2011 2012 2011
Group Group Company Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

The average number of employees, including directors
in a service contract, during the year was:

Management and administration 55 55 31 33
Direct 20 22 17 19
Elite rugby 31 33 31 33
Community rugby 52 37 52 37
Stadium 36 37 - -

194 184 131 122

The above staff numbers do not include any players representing national teams, stewards employed for events nor do they include the
non-executive directors of the Company.  
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2012

3. Financing costs

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Interest payable and similar charges
Interest payable on bank and similar loans 792 842
Amortisation of debenture issue costs 13 -
Bank charges 278 173
Total 1,083 1,015

Interest receivable and similar income
Short term deposits 76 128
Other finance charges in respect of pensions (see Note 21) 1 -
Total 77 128

Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments
Interest rate cap 233 84
Interest rate floor 490 77
Total 723 161

Total net financing costs 1,729 1,048

Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes although they do not qualify as accounting hedges under FRS
26. Consequently, the Group’s derivative instruments are fair valued at each balance sheet date with the net loss or gain recognised in
the profit and loss account.  

4. Profit on ordinary activities before tax

Profit on ordinary activities before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Depreciation on owned assets 4,897 4,833
Release of deferred income (grant release) (1,747) (1,694)
Net charge to the profit and loss account 3,150 3,139
Rental of land and buildings 319 319
Trade debtors impairment 132 68

Exceptional items Notes
Litigation costs (a) 175 -
Reorganisation costs (b) 60 -
Total exceptional items 235 -
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6. Tax on profit on ordinary activities (continued)

(b) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year

The current tax assessed for the year is different from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 25.5% (2011: 27.5%).  The
differences are explained below:

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 2,386 2,705

Profit multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 25.5% (2011: 27.5%) 608 744

Effects of:
Accelerated capital allowances and other timing differences 596 (974)
Permanent differences 1,426 334
Adjustment in respect of prior years 1,017 (15)
Current tax charge for year (Note 6(a)) 3,647 89

In addition to the changes in rates of corporation tax disclosed above, a number of further changes to the UK corporation tax system
were announced in the March 2012 UK Budget Statement. Legislation to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 24.0% to
23.0% from 1 April 2013 is included in the Finance Act 2012 which was substantively enacted on 3 July 2012 and fully enacted on 17
July 2012. A further reduction to the main rate is proposed to reduce the rate to 22% from 1 April 2014. These further changes had
not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, are not included in these financial statements.

The effect of the changes in the Finance Act 2012 would be to reduce the deferred tax liability provided at the balance sheet date by
approximately £89k. This £89k decrease in the deferred tax liability would increase profits by approximately £89k. This decrease in the
deferred tax liability is due to the reduction in the corporation tax rate from 24.0% to 23.0% with effect from 1 April 2013. 

The proposed reduction of the main rate of corporation tax to 22.0% by 1 April 2014 is expected to be enacted separately. The overall
effect of this further change, if it applied to the deferred tax balance at the balance sheet date, would be to further reduce the deferred
tax liability by an additional £89k.

7. Profit of the Company 

The Company has not presented its own profit and loss account, as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The profit
before and after tax for the financial year in respect of the Company was £10.2m and £8.7m (2011: £5.8m and £4.4m) respectively.

5. Staff numbers and costs (continued)

Staff costs 2012 2011 2012 2011
Group Group Company Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

The staff costs during the year were as follows:
Wages and salaries 6,930 6,852 5,106 5,243
Social security costs 794 650 623 502
Pension costs – defined contribution schemes 475 433 356 326

8,199 7,935 6,085 6,071

In addition to the above amounts, £5.4m (2011: £1.3m) is paid as remuneration to the players whilst representing the National Squad.
These costs are included in Direct costs within Operational costs (see Note 2 (c)).

Directors’ emoluments 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

The directors’ emoluments, during the year, were as follows:
Aggregate emoluments 335 329
Benefits 17 16
Company contributions to defined contribution pension scheme 14 18

366 363

The emoluments above include a fee of £35,000 (2011: £35,000) payable to the Chairman. The Group received £18,000 (2011:
£18,000) from third parties in respect of the above emoluments. There is one director (2011: one) accruing benefits under a defined
contribution pension scheme. No directors (2011: none) are accruing benefits under a defined benefit pension scheme. 

Emoluments of the highest paid director 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

The emoluments of the highest paid director, during the year, were as follows:
Aggregate emoluments 300 294
Benefits 7 8
Company contributions to defined contribution pension scheme 14 18

321 320

6. Tax on profit on ordinary activities
2012 2011
£’000 £’000

(a) Analysis of charge in the year

Current tax
UK corporation tax on result for the year 2,630 104
Adjustment in respect of prior years 1,017 (15)
Total current tax (Note 6(b)) 3,647 89

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (1,655) 937
Changes in tax rates and laws (222) (237)
Total deferred tax (1,877) 700

Total tax charge on profit on ordinary activities 1,770 789
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10. Stock

Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Goods for resale 191 318 - -

11. Debtors

Amounts due within one year: Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade debtors 3,047 2,211 975 473
Loans due from clubs 686 638 686 638
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (948) (823) (764) (731)

2,785 2,026 897 380
Prepayments and other debtors 1,266 1,520 956 1,127

4,051 3,546 1,853 1,507

Amounts due after more than one year:
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings - - 72,619 67,380
Loans due from clubs - 22 - 22

- 22 72,619 67,402

Total debtors 4,051 3,568 74,472 68,909

The amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and have no fixed dates of repayment. An interest charge at equivalent
rates to the bank loan arrangements is levied on outstanding amounts due from subsidiary undertakings. 

The carrying amount of debtors is a reasonable approximation of fair value and the carrying amounts of the Group’s debtors are all
denominated in UK Sterling (“GBP”).

As of 30 June 2012, trade debtors and loans due from clubs with a carrying value of £1.0m (2011: £0.7m) were impaired and provided
for. The amount of the provision was £0.9m as of 30 June 2012 (2011: £0.8m). The ageing of these debtors is as follows:

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

3 to 6 months past due 141 127
Over 6 months past due 815 606

956 733

8. Tangible fixed assets

Stadium Centre of Other Land Other  Group Company
Excellence buildings fixed assets Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost
At 1 July 2011 138,306 2,562 1,687 37,629 4,679 184,863 39,583
Additions 292 161 - - 265 718 28
Disposals - (5) - - (3) (8) -
At 30 June 2012 138,598 2,718 1,687 37,629 4,941 185,573 39,611

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2011 40,775 451 848 - 2,451 44,525 969
Charge for the year 3,979 243 104 - 571 4,897 180
Disposals - (5) - - (3) (8) -
At 30 June 2012 44,754 689 952 - 3,019 49,414 1,149

Net book value
At 30 June 2012 93,844 2,029 735 37,629 1,922 136,159 38,462

At 30 June 2011 97,531 2,111 839 37,629 2,228 140,338 38,614

Included in the cost of the stadium are cumulative capitalised interest costs of £4.6m (2011: £4.6m).  The depreciation charge includes
an amount of £0.1m (2011: £0.1m) representing the depreciation of interest previously capitalised.  

Other fixed assets comprise plant and machinery and fixtures and fittings. The tangible fixed assets of the Company predominantly
relate to land as shown above.

9. Investments

The Group holds no material investments.

The Company held a £50,000 equity investment in Millennium Stadium plc and a £10,000 equity investment in WRU National Centre
of Excellence Limited at both 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011. Both investments are held at historical cost.

Subsidiary and other investments held directly by the Company and in which the Company has a beneficial interest, as at 30 June 2012
and 30 June 2011 were:

Company Principal activity Country of % holding of 
incorporation ordinary shares

Millennium Stadium plc Stadia operation United Kingdom 100%

WRU Supporters Club Limited Marketing United Kingdom 100%

WRU National Centre of Excellence Limited Provision of training facilities United Kingdom 100%

WRU Debentures Limited Dormant United Kingdom 100%

Six Nations Rugby Limited Competition management Republic of Ireland 17%

European Rugby Cup Limited Competition management Republic of Ireland 17%

Celtic Rugby Limited Competition management Republic of Ireland 33%

British and Irish Lions Limited Overseas rugby tours Republic of Ireland 25%

Given the disposition of the other shareholdings, the Group’s inability to exercise significant influence over the investments above with
less than 100% shareholdings and the immateriality of their net surpluses and net assets after receipt of income by the Group in the
other investments above, the Directors do not believe that these investments fall to be treated as associate companies.  Fixed assets
investments are stated at the lower of cost and valuation.

Cardiff County Council (“CCC”) own one share in Millennium Stadium plc; this share grants only certain rights and does not grant
CCC any dividends nor any rights to amounts receivable upon winding up.
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13. Creditors (continued)

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans 22,812 30,498 22,812 30,498
Debentures 37,622 37,561 37,622 37,561
Deferred income 254 351 - -
Derivative financial liability (note 14) 672 - 672 -

61,360 68,410 61,106 68,059

Maturity analysis:

Bank loans are due: Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year 6,788 6,094 6,788 6,094
Between one and two years 2,578 2,364 2,578 2,364
Between two and five years 8,380 7,500 8,380 7,500
In more than five years 11,854 20,634 11,854 20,634

29,600 36,592 29,600 36,592

On 29 June 2012 the Group replaced its existing loan facilities with a revised arrangement. The £20.5m term loan outstanding at that
date was repaid and immediately replaced with a new £15.5m facility in the Company. The Group also amended its revolving credit
facility. The previous £15.0m facility held by the Company was replaced with a new £17.5m facility. 

The Group’s term loan is repayable by fixed amounts per quarter, inclusive of interest and capital. The maturity analysis above is based
on an estimation of LIBOR by the Directors for the remaining term. If the Directors’ estimate above is incorrect then the maturity analysis
will change accordingly.

The repayment profile above has been amended to reflect the terms of the new loan facility. 

The principal terms of these loans are set out below: 

Bank loans Interest and capital repayment terms 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Revolving credit facility LIBOR plus 2.00%, loan repayable on maturity date - 3,500
Revolving credit facility LIBOR plus 2.50%, loan repayable on maturity date 4,100 -
Term loan LIBOR plus 1.50%, loan repayable in instalments by 2033 - 23,092
Term loan LIBOR plus 2.00%, loan repayable in instalments by 2021 15,500 -
Tranche C Interest and capital is payable only in the event of default 10,000 10,000

or certain other defined events
29,600 36,592

The principal terms of the bank loans shown above relate to the primary instrument and do not take account of derivative instruments. 

Interest on amounts drawn on the revolving credit facility is referenced to the LIBOR rate applicable to the draw period. At 30 June
2012 the revolving credit facility was drawn for a period of 1 month.

Interest on the term loan is re-priced every 3 months and referenced to 3 month LIBOR. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings approximate their value. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are all denominated in GBP.

11. Debtors (continued)

The debtors determined as individually impaired were amounts in excess of 3 months past due that were owed by various categories
of customer. These debts have not been written off and the Group are pursing these amounts due.

Trade debtors that are less than three months past their due date are not considered impaired. As of 30 June 2012, trade debtors of
carrying value of £0.5m (2011: £0.6m) were past their due date but not impaired. These are balances from a number of independent
customers and the credit risk on these customers is assessed as low. The ageing of trade debtors that are past due but not impaired is
the following:

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Up to 3 months past due 364 521
3 to 6 months past due 132 57
Over 6 months past due 3 3

499 581

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade debtors are as follows:
2012 2011
£’000 £’000

At start of year 823 1,107
Debtors written off during the year (7) (352)
New amounts charged to profit and loss 132 68
At end of year 948 823

12. Cash at bank and in hand

Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash balance at bank 831 382 565 309

13. Creditors

Amounts falling due within one year:
Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans 6,788 6,094 6,788 6,094
Trade creditors 1,454 2,501 641 187
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings - - - 62
Corporation tax 7,360 4,184 6,713 3,972
Other tax and social security 357 339 43 258
Other creditors 201 258 201 258
Accruals and deferred income 14,728 10,568 8,851 8,131

30,888 23,944 23,237 18,962

The amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and have no fixed dates of repayment. An interest charge at equivalent
rates to the bank loan arrangements is levied on outstanding amounts due to subsidiary undertakings.
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14. Borrowings and financial instruments

Treasury policy

Treasury activity is focused on monitoring working capital, managing external funding and managing interest rate risk.  Treasury activity
is not a profit centre and the Group neither enters into transactions of a speculative nature nor trades in financial instruments.  Treasury
risk management policies are summarised below:

• Foreign exchange risk – where applicable, the Group mitigates foreign exchange risk with the use of forward contracts.
As at 30 June 2012 the Group had no material foreign exchange risk (2011: nil).

• Interest rate risk – operations are financed through a mixture of bank borrowings, debenture loans and hire purchase
arrangements.  The Group currently borrows in floating rates of interest and uses derivative financial instruments to generate
the desired interest profile and to manage exposure to interest rate fluctuations. At 30 June 2012 some 78% (2011: 60%)
of bank borrowing was subject to hedging arrangements. 

• Liquidity risk – the Group’s policy is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility.  As at 30 June
2012, 26% (2011: 22%) of borrowings were due to mature within five years, some 41% (2011: 48%) were due to mature
between five years and fifteen years and some 33% (2011: 30%) were due to mature after fifteen years.  

Financial instruments

At 30 June 2012 the notional principal amounts of derivatives relating to interest rate cap and collar agreements were £15.2m and are
analysed as follows:

Instrument Principal Fair market Gain/(loss) Maturity date
value

£’000 £’000 £’000

Interest rate cap 3.75% (effective from 30 June 2012) 15,200 15,265 65 30 June 2018
Interest rate floor 2.10% (effective from 30 June 2012) 15,200 14,463 (737) 30 June 2018

At 30 June 2011 the notional principal amounts of derivatives relating to interest rate cap and collar agreements were £16.0m and
were analysed as follows:

Instrument Principal Fair market Gain/(loss) Maturity date
value

£’000 £’000 £’000

Interest rate cap 3.00% (effective from 30 June 2010) 16,000 16,000 - 30 June 2012
Interest rate cap 3.75% (effective from 30 June 2012) 15,200 14,902 298 30 June 2018
Interest rate floor 2.10% (effective from 30 June 2012) 15,200 15,447 (247) 30 June 2018

13. Creditors (continued)

Security provided on bank loans

Bank loans totalling £29.6m (2011: £36.6m) are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Company and certain of
its subsidiaries.

Borrowing facilities

The Group has £13.4m (2011: £11.5m) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 30 June 2012 in respect of which all
conditions precedent had been met at that date. 

Debenture loans are repayable in: Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2021 360 360 360 360
2024 24,587 24,587 24,587 24,587
2026 486 438 486 438
2027 2,425 2,425 2,425 2,425
2028 350 350 350 350
2030 4,833 4,833 4,833 4,833
2035 1,795 1,795 1,795 1,795
2050 2,975 2,975 2,975 2,975

37,811 37,763 37,811 37,763
Unamortised issue costs (189) (202) (189) (202)

37,622 37,561 37,622 37,561

All debenture loans are unsecured and bear no interest.  

The Group launched a new debenture issue during the prior year and further amounts from this issue were received in the current year.
These debentures will be repayable in 2026. The issue costs associated with the debenture issue are held as a deduction to the debenture
balance. These issue costs will be amortised over the life of the debentures. £13k (2011: £nil) has been amortised in the current year
and released to the profit and loss account. 

Bank and debenture loans repayable by instalments wholly or partly after 5 years

Bank loans, with a total value of £29.6m (2011: £36.6m), are repayable wholly or partly from the balance sheet date by instalments.
Of these amounts, £11.9m (2011: £20.6m) is repayable after five years.  

Debenture loans, with a total value of £37.6m (2011: £37.6m), are repayable wholly from the balance sheet date.  Of these amounts,
£37.6m (2011: £37.6m) is repayable after five years. 
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16. Provisions for liabilities 

Deferred tax

The movement on deferred tax is as follows:
Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Liability at start of year 4,023 3,323 - -
(Released)/charged to the profit and loss account (1,877) 700 (222) -
At end of year 2,146 4,023 (222) -

Deferred tax provided/(recognised) is made up as follows:
Accelerated capital allowances 2,373 4,031 - -
Other timing differences (227) (8) (222) -

2,146 4,023 (222) -

The Group is currently in discussions with HM Revenue & Customs regarding the extent to which the expenditure on the Millennium
Stadium qualifies for tax relief. When these discussions are concluded, it is possible that an adjustment will be required to the provisions
for corporation tax and deferred tax but it is not possible to quantify the likely amount and direction of this adjustment at this time.
The Directors believe, based on external opinion, that the Group has meritorious arguments as regards the treatment adopted and that
no significant further liability is expected from that already reflected in the financial statements. 

17. Company limited by guarantee

The liability of the members is limited.  Every member of the Company undertakes to contribute such amounts as may be required (not
exceeding £1) to the Company’s assets if it should be wound up while the member is a member, or within one year after a member
ceases to be a member, for payment of the Company’s liabilities contracted before a member ceased to be a member.  At the balance
sheet date the number of members was 251 (2011: 251).

18. Reserves
Profit and loss Other reserves Total

account
£’000 £’000 £’000

Group
At 1 July 2011 2,965 2,314 5,279
Retained profit for the year 616 - 616
Actuarial loss on pension fund (211) - (211)
At 30 June 2012 3,370 2,314 5,684

Profit and loss Other reserves Total
account

£’000 £’000 £’000
Company
At 1 July 2011 18,312 2,610 20,922
Retained profit for the year 8,727 - 8,727
Actuarial loss on pension fund (211) - (211)
At 30 June 2012 26,828 2,610 29,438

Company - retained profit for the year 2012
is analysed as follows: £‘000

Profit before tax 10,171
Tax charge (1,444)

8,727

14. Borrowings and financial instruments (continued)

During the year to 30 June 2012, none of the Group’s derivatives qualified for hedge accounting under FRS 26 (2011: £nil). These
instruments are carried at fair value as analysed below:

Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest rate cap 65 298 65 298
Interest rate floor (737) (247) (737) (247)
Derivative financial (liability)/asset (672) 51 (672) 51

In accordance with FRS 26, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’, the Group and Company have reviewed all contracts
for embedded derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet certain requirements set out in the
standard. Neither the Group nor the Company have such embedded derivatives as per FRS 26.

15. Accruals and deferred income

Grants Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At start of year 43,001 43,029 - -
Grant received - 1,766 - -
Amounts repaid (100) (100) - -
Released to the profit and loss account (1,747) (1,694) - -
At end of year 41,154 43,001 - -

During the year some £1.7m (2011: £1.7m) was released to the profit and loss account from the grant amount shown above.

Included within the grants amounts above is an amount received from the Big Lottery Fund (formerly the Millennium Commission)
amounting to £30.8m (2011: £31.9m). This grant will be released to the profit and loss account as follows:

Group Group Company Company
2012 2011 2012 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year 1,196 1,196 - -
Between one and two years 1,196 1,196 - -
Between two and five years 3,588 3,588 - -
In more than five years 24,771 25,967 - -

30,751 31,947 - -

In certain circumstances, the above grant can become repayable if the Group fails to meet the monitoring requirements of the grant.
The Group is currently in full compliance with the monitoring requirements such that no monies are repayable under the terms of the
grant. 
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21. Pension costs (continued) 

The Group has elected to account for defined benefit pension schemes in accordance with FRS 17 which prescribes the basis for valuing
defined benefit scheme assets and liabilities. The prescribed basis for valuing the scheme’s liabilities differs from the basis used by the
scheme’s actuaries in producing periodic valuations of the scheme.  

The main financial assumptions used in the valuation of the pension schemes under FRS 17 are:

2012 2011 2010
% % %

Assumptions
Inflation - 3.5 3.4
Rate of increase in salaries - 0.0 0.0
Rate of increase of pensions in payment - 3.8 3.4
Rate of increase of pensions in deferment - 2.8 3.4
Discount rate - 4.3 4.1

Years Years Years

Life expectancy of a 65 year old woman at end of year - 90 90
Life expectancy of a 65 year old man at end of year - 87 87

Life expectancy assumptions for 2011 are based on: 115% of those published in actuarial tables PNMA00 for males, with a medium
cohort projection, subject to a minimum of 1.5%; and 110% of those published in actuarial tables PNFA00 for females, with a medium
cohort projection, subject to a minimum of 1.0%. 

WRUSEPS is in the process of winding up and therefore the liabilities at 30 June 2012 have been determined as the cost of purchasing
deferred annuities.

WRUSEPS has a number of purchased annuities in respect of past retirements and these match the associated liabilities and so have
been excluded from both the assets and liabilities. In addition, WRUSEPS has additional voluntary contributions invested and these
match the associated liabilities and so have been excluded from both the assets and liabilities.

Expected rate 2012 Expected rate 2011
of return of return

% £’000 % £’000
Assets
Group pension contract - - 4.8 1,618
Cash 0.5 108 4.3 -

108 1,618

The following amounts at end of period have been measured in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17:

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Fair market value of assets 108 1,618
Actuarial value of liabilities (108) (1,618)
Excess of liabilities over assets - -
Related deferred tax asset - -
Net pension liability - -

19. Contingent liabilities  

Group

The Group had the following contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2012:

● The Group has guaranteed the performance of some member clubs in respect of loans that the member clubs have received
from Barclays Bank PLC. The amounts due are £1.2m (2011: £1.4m).

Company

The Company had the following contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2012:

• The Company has guaranteed the performance of one of its subsidiaries under the terms of grant arrangements amounting
to £41.2m (2011: £43.0m).

● The Company has guaranteed the performance of some member clubs in respect of loans that the member clubs have
received from Barclays Bank PLC.  The amounts due are £1.2m (2011: £1.4m).

The Group and Company are dealing with a small number of legal claims. The Directors have reviewed all of these claims and, on the
basis of legal advice received, believe that no provision is necessary. Consequently no provision for these claims has been included in
these financial statements.

20. Commitments

Capital commitments of the Group: 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Authorised and contracted: - 221

The Company has no capital commitments (2011: £nil)

Operating lease commitments: 

At the balance sheet date, the Group had the following annual commitments, under non-cancellable operating leases:

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Land and buildings
Expiring after five years 319 319

21. Pension costs 

The assets of the defined contribution pension schemes are held separately from those of the Group, under independent administration.
The pension cost charge for these schemes represents contributions payable by the Group to the schemes in the year amounting to
some £0.5m (2011: £0.4m). There are no material amounts included in creditors in respect of these pension costs in 2012 or 2011.

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme as follows: 

The Welsh Rugby Union Limited Senior Employees’ Pension Scheme (“WRUSEPS”)

WRUSEPS is a defined benefit scheme which is closed to new entrants and to future accrual.  WRUSEPS  is in the process of winding
up.

WRUSEPS assets are held in separate trustee administered funds.  Contributions to WRUSEPS are assessed in accordance with the advice
of an independent qualified actuary on the basis of triennial valuations. 

The latest valuation of WRUSEPS, prepared as at 1 May 2010, was based on the Projected Unit Method of Valuation and the market
value of its assets at that date was some £1.6m. The contribution rates of the Group were 0% of pensionable pay from 1 June 2009.
The Group’s contributions for the year amounted to £210k (2011: £nil). No material amounts at 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011 were
included in creditors.
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21. Pension costs (continued)

Movement in liability during the year 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Liability at beginning of the year - (428)
Movement in year:
Contributions 210 -
Other finance income 1 -
Actuarial (loss)/gain (211) 428
Pension scheme liability at end of the year - -

Amounts for current period and previous four years
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligation (£’000) (108) (1,618) (1,727) (1,841) (1,404)
Plan assets (£’000) 108 1,618 1,299 1,686 1,815
(Deficit)/surplus (£’000) - - (428) (155) 411
Difference between the expected and actual
return on scheme assets:

Amount (£’000) (30) 258 (147) (123) (219)
Percentage of scheme assets (28)% 16% (11)% (7)% (12)%

Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities:
Amount (£’000) 140 322 63 (214) 365
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 130% 20% 4% (12)% 26%

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of
the scheme liabilities:
Amount (£’000) (321) (152) (428) (175) (26)
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities (297)% (9)% (25)% (10)% (2)%

Total amount recognised in statement of total
recognised gains and losses:

Amount (£’000) (211) (428) (513) 512 120
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 195% 26% (30)% (28)% 9%

21. Pension costs (continued)

The amounts recognised in the financial statements are as follows: 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Operating profit
Current service costs - -
Cost of settlements and curtailments - -

- -

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Other finance income
Expected return on pension scheme assets 41 61
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (40) (61)
Net return 1 -

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Statement of total recognised gains and losses
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets (30) 258
Experience gains arising on the scheme liabilities 140 322
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities (321) (152)
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in the consolidated statement (211) 428
of total recognised gains and losses

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

At beginning of the year 1,618 1,727
Movement in year:
Interest cost 40 61
Benefits paid (38) -
Settlements and curtailments (1,694) -
Actuarial loss/(gain) 182 (170)
Present value of scheme liabilities at end of the year 108 1,618

Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets 2012 2011
£’000 £’000

At beginning of the year 1,618 1,299
Movement in year:
Expected return on scheme assets 41 61
Employer contributions 210 -
Settlements (1,694) -
Benefits paid (38) -
Actuarial (loss)/gain (29) 258
Fair value of scheme assets at end of the year 108 1,618

The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underlying the current
investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the balance sheet date.
Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets. The actual return
on scheme assets in the year was £11,000 (2011: £319,000).
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24. Analysis of net debt
                                                Cash           Bank debt           Bank debt                      Hire         Debentures                    Total
                                                                  due within             due after             purchase  
                                                                      one year              one year     arrangements                                                         
                                               £’000                   £’000                   £’000                   £’000                   £’000                   £’000

At 30 June 2011 382 (6,094) (30,498) - (37,561) (73,771)
Cashflow 449 (665) 7,657 - (48) 7,393
Non-cash changes - (29) 29 - (13) (13)
At 30 June 2012 831 (6,788) (22,812) - (37,622) (66,391)

At 30 June 2010 1,000 (3,466) (39,670) (299) (37,325) (79,760)
Cashflow (618) (34) 6,578 299 (236) 5,989
Non-cash changes - (2,594) 2,594 - - -
At 30 June 2011 382 (6,094) (30,498) - (37,561) (73,771)

25. Related party transactions

In accordance with the exemption afforded by FRS 8, ‘related party transactions’, there is no disclosure in these financial statements of
transactions with entities that are part of the Group.
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22. Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities

2012 2011
£’000 £’000

EBITDA 27,632 26,173
Allocations to affiliated organisations (20,132) (19,281)
Exceptional items (235) -
Depreciation (4,897) (4,833)
Release of deferred income 1,747 1,694
Operating profit 4,115 3,753

Non-cash items:
Depreciation 4,897 4,833
Release of deferred income (1,747) (1,694)

3,150 3,139
Working capital adjustments:
Decrease/(increase) in stock 127 (257)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (643) 2,337
Increase in creditors  2,966 135

2,450 2,215

Net cash inflow from operating activities 9,715 9,107

23. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2012 2011
£’000 £’000

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 449 (618)
Cash outflow from movement in debt and hire purchase arrangements 6,944 6,607
Non-cash changes (13) -
Decrease in net debt during the year 7,380 5,989
Net debt at the beginning of the year (73,771) (79,760)
Net debt at the end of the year (66,391) (73,771)
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Patron and Office Bearers:

Patron
Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II

Vice Patron
His Royal Highness The Duke of Cambridge

President 
Dennis Gethin

Governance of Welsh Rugby

The principal activity of the Group is to promote, foster,
encourage, control and improve the game of rugby
throughout Wales. The Board of The Welsh Rugby Union
Limited (“Board”) is responsible for ensuring that the
principal activity is managed, which it does through the
Welsh Rugby Group Executive Board. The Board comprises
a non-executive chairman, sixteen non-executive directors
and one executive director.

The Board of The Welsh Rugby Union Limited

Non-executive chairman:
David Pickering

Executive:
Roger Lewis (Group Chief Executive)

Non-executive members:
Kenneth Hewitt (vice non-executive chairman)
Mal Beynon
Gerald Davies CBE, DL
Martin Davies
Geraint Edwards
Gordon Eynon
Humphrey Evans
Brian Fowler
Roy Giddings
Richard Gwynn (appointed 30 August 2011)
Russell Howell
Peredur Jenkins
Alan Jones
Aurwel Morgan
Steve Pike (appointed 1 September 2011)
Ray Wilton

Company Secretary
Gareth Williams

Welsh Rugby Group – Executive Board

Chairman: Roger Lewis
(Group Chief Executive) 

Executive:

Rhodri Lewis Head of Legal Affairs
Joe Lydon Head of Rugby Performance &

Development
Craig Maxwell Head of Sales and Marketing
Julie Paterson Head of Compliance
Steve Phillips Group Finance Director 
Gerry Toms Stadium Manager
John Williams Head of Communications 

Board Committees 

During the year, the Board operated three principal sub-
committees to assist in its business. The role and
membership of the sub committees were as follows:

We have audited the group and parent company financial
statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of the Welsh
Rugby Union Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012
which comprise the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account,
the Consolidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and
Losses, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets,
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the related
notes. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’
responsibilities set out on page 62 the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for
and only for the company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and
parent company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by the directors; and the overall presentation of the
financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial
and non-financial information in the annual report &
consolidated financial statements to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s
and the parent company’s affairs as at  30 June 2012
and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act
2006 

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’
Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by
the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us; or 

• the parent company financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns;
or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

.

Mark Ellis (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cardiff

19 September 2012
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of The Welsh Rugby Union Limited

Welsh Rugby Union governance 
for the period ended 30 June 2012

Cardiff HSOB - league champions
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panel consists of the Chairman of the Board, the Vice-
Chairman of the Board and the three heads of standing
sub-committees: Finance, Game Policy and Regulatory.
Alun Thomas (FCA) resigned as the non-Board member of
the Panel on 4 July 2011. A successor will not be appointed
as the Committee now relies on expert independent
professional advice when deemed necessary. 

The Audit Panel

The Audit Panel, chaired by Martin Davies, included Martyn
Ryan and David Hammond as non-Board members.
Following David Hammond’s resignation on 23 August
2011, Geraint Davies was appointed as a further non-
Board member. The Audit Panel is responsible for assisting
the Board discharge its responsibilities for accounting
policies, financial reporting, internal control and risk
management and liaising with the Group’s auditors. 

Remuneration and benefits of the Board 

Under the Group’s remuneration policy, no fees are
payable to non-executive Board members, other than the
non-executive Chairman who receives an annual fee of
£35,000.

In addition, the Board are represented on other rugby
bodies including The International Rugby Board (“IRB”),
Six Nations Rugby Limited, European Rugby Cup Limited
and Celtic Rugby Limited all of whom have a policy of
financially compensating the representatives serving on
these bodies. 

Registered office and advisers

Registered office
Millennium Stadium
Westgate Street
Cardiff CF10 1NS

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
One Kingsway
Cardiff CF10 3PW

Principal solicitors
Hugh James LLP
Hodge House
114 - 116 St. Mary Street
Cardiff CF10 1DY

Bankers
Barclays Bank PLC
3rd Floor
Windsor Court
3 Windsor Place
Cardiff CF10 3ZL

The Welsh Rugby Union Limited & Millennium Stadium plc
Millennium Stadium, Westgate Street, Cardiff CF10 1NS
Tel: + 44 (0)870 013 8600
Email: info@wru.co.uk www.wru.co.uk
www.millenniumstadium.com

The Finance Committee, chaired by Martin Davies
comprised David Pickering, Kenneth Hewitt, Roger Lewis,
Humphrey Evans, Gordon Eynon and Steve Phillips. The
Finance Committee is responsible for all financial matters
of the Group other than dealing with the Group’s auditors.

The Regulatory Committee, chaired by Mal Beynon,
included Russell Howell, Geraint Edwards, Brian Fowler,
Ray Wilton, Aurwel Morgan and Julie Paterson. It is
responsible for disciplinary matters and the management
of all leagues and cup competitions in operation.

The Game Policy Committee, chaired by Alan Jones,
included Roy Giddings, Gerald Davies, Joe Lydon, Peredur
Jenkins, Richard Gwynn and Steve Pike. In addition to Joe
Lydon, Non-Board members of the Game Policy
Committee included Mike Rein, Ian Parker, Sophie Bennett,
Martyn Ryan and Jason Lewis. The Game Policy Committee
is responsible for the development of the game at all levels,
including age groups, coaching and referees.  

Development of Corporate Governance 

Both the Board and the Executive Board remain committed
to the continuing development of governance structures,
in order to meet the evolving needs of the game of rugby
union.

The Board and the Executive Board acknowledge the value
of the principles of good governance as set out in the
combined code. The Group are committed to adopting the
principles of best practice in corporate governance. The

Group will ensure that each member of the Board
undergoes training in the role of the non-executive director
to be delivered by an appropriate organisation (such as the
Institute of Directors). The Group are committed to further
training and development of the Board.

Board and Executive Board

There is a clear division of responsibility between the role
of non-executive Chairman and Group Chief Executive.
There is a detailed limit of authority protocol in place for
both the Board and the Executive Board. All Executive
Board members have detailed job descriptions in addition
to limits of authority.

The Board meets on a monthly basis and considers all
matters under its terms of reference which include the
development and monitoring of the Group’s strategic plan,
allocation of financial resources, reviewing the
performance of the Group Chief Executive and Executive
Board and approval of annual budgets.

In addition, the Board considers the recommendation of
the Board’s standing committees, whose responsibilities
relate to Finance, Regulatory and Game Policy as shown
above.

Appointments and Remuneration Panel

The Appointments and Remuneration Panel advises the
Board on the remuneration and terms and conditions of
the Group Chief Executive and the Executive Board. The
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Welsh Rugby Union governance 
Board of Directors for the period ended 30 June 2012

Non Executive
Chairman
David Pickering

Joined the WRU Board in
1998 as a national
representative.

He is Chairman of The Six
Nations Committee and in
2012 was appointed to
the board of Rugby World
Cup Ltd. He is chairman of
the Board of the
Millennium Stadium and a
member of the
International Rugby Board
Council.

He won 23 caps for Wales
between 1983 and 1987
captaining the national
team eight times and
played his club rugby for
Neath and Llanelli. He then
coached Neath RFC and
later became Manager of
the Wales A team and
then the senior national
team.

Outside his rugby
involvement he retains
private business interests
and holds a number of
directorships.

Executive
Roger Lewis  
(Group Chief Executive)

Appointed as Group Chief
Executive of the Welsh
Rugby Union and the
Millennium Stadium in
2006 and also represents
the WRU on the boards of
the European Rugby Cup
Ltd and Celtic Rugby Ltd.
He is also President of
Cefn Cribwr RFC.

Before joining the WRU he
was Managing Director of
ITV Wales. Previously he
was  Managing Director
and Programme Controller
of Classic FM and Board
Director of its parent
company GWR plc;
Managing Director at EMI
Records: Worldwide
President of the Decca
Record Company and
Head of the BBC Radio 1
Music Department.

Non Executive Vice
Chairman
Ken Hewitt

Joined the WRU Board in
1993 and represents
District A.

He has represented the
WRU on the Board of the
European Rugby Cup Ltd,
the International Rugby
Board and the Welsh
Youth Rugby Union. He is
currently a member of the
Millennium Stadium Board
and sits on the
Appointments and
Remuneration Panel.

He played youth and
senior rugby for
Cwmtillery and Abertillery
before joining Aberga-
venny where he coached
the youth and senior sides.
He was honorary secretary
for the club for 20 years
along with a role as
honorary secretary of the
then Monmouthshire
League

He is a retired school head
teacher.

Mal Beynon

Joined the WRU Board in
1997 and represents
District A.

He is Chairman of the
WRU Regulatory Commit-
tee, a member of the
Millennium Stadium Board
and sits on the
Appointments and
Remuneration Panel.

He has been an active
member of Brynmawr RFC
for 60 years, first as a
player and then a
committee member
including terms as
Treasurer, Vice Chairman
and Chairman. He is now
a life member of the club.

Now retired he worked 
as a scaffolder before
managing his own finance
business.

Gerald Davies CBE DL

Joined the WRU Board in
2005 as a national
representative.

He is also Chairman of the
Board of the British and
Irish Lions. He won 46
caps for Wales and was a
British and Irish Lion in
1968 and 1971. He played
club rugby for London
Welsh RFC and Cardiff
RFC, captaining the capital
city team for three
seasons. He was Manager
of the 2009 Lions on their
tour of South Africa.

He has been an Executive
Officer with Sport Wales
and a non-executive
Director and Chairman of
HTV. He was also
Chairman of the Welsh
Youth Agency. He is an
author, a rugby columnist
for The Times, a member
of the Eisteddfod Gorsedd
of Bards and Deputy Lord
Lieutenant of Gwent.

Martin Davies

Joined the WRU Board in
2003 as a national
representative.

He is also Chairman of the
WRU Finance Committee,
a member of the
Appointments and Rem-
uneration Panel, Chairman
of the Audit Panel and a
member of the Six Nations
and the FIRA-AER
committees.

He is a former player for
Cardiff Youth and
Glamorgan Wanderers
and served as Secretary of
Crawshays Welsh. 

He is a retired chartered
accountant and worked
for Price Waterhouse
Coopers(PwC), Standard
Chartered Banking Group
and Hillsdown Holdings.
He was also director of a
private manufacturing
company. He was a Cardiff
councillor for 29 years.

Geraint Edwards

Joined the WRU Board in
1993 and represents
District E.

He currently serves on the
Board of the Millennium
Stadium. He is Chairman
of the WRU Disciplinary
Committee and is a
member of the ERC
Disciplinary Sub Commit-
tee. He acts as a Citing
Commissioner to test
match level. He was a
member of Dunvant youth
team and represented the
club’s senior side for 18
seasons. He was the club’s
fixture secretary for 25
years and club Chairman
for ten years.

He is a former apprentice
tool maker with ICI and
worked for the Ford Motor
Company and then British
Leyland as an engineer. He
is now retired.

Humphrey R Evans

Joined the WRU Board in
2000 and represents
District C. 

He is a former player for
Aberdare RFC and since
retiring from the game has
served on the club
committee for 40 years.
He is a former fixture
secretary and was elected
Chairman 28 years ago.

Now retired he worked for
Unilever as a sales
representative and is now
a lay preacher for the
Unitarian Church.
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Gordon Eynon

Joined the WRU Board in
2011 and represents
District H. 

During his rugby playing
career he played at a
senior level for Whitland
RFC, Gwernyfed RFC,
Breconshire, Carmarthen
Quins RFC and Crymych
RFC. He has been club
secretary at Crymych for
22 years. He has been a
District H committee
member since 1995 and
chaired the district from
2009 to 2011. 

He is a former secondary
school teacher and
currently manages a
farming enterprise in
Pembrokeshire. 

Brian Fowler

Joined the WRU Board in
2002 and represents
District F. 

He played rugby for St
Luke’s College Exeter,
Llanelli RFC, Ammanford
RFC, Brynamman RFC  and
Tycroes RFC. He was later
secretary of Ammanford
RFC for 23 years.

He has been a local
government officer for
Carmarthenshire County
Council since 1989 having
previously worked for the
National Coal Board.

Roy Giddings

Joined the WRU Board in
1988 and represents
District B.

He is a former player for
Pencoed RFC and became
secretary of the club in
1963. He has been
secretary of the East
District since 1976.

He studied cost accoun-
tancy after completing his
National Service in 1961
and joined the British Steel
Corp-oration as a depart-
mental cost accountant.
He later became cashier of
Llanwern Steelworks until
his retirement in 1999.

Richard Gwynn

Joined the WRU Board in
2011 and represents
District E.

He played for Swansea
Uplands RFC and has been
club secretary for 33 years.
He is also Vice President of
Crawshays Welsh. He is a
former WRU referee and is
a former secretary of the
Swansea and District
Referees Society. He is a
Citing Commissioner. He
was treasurer of the British
Telecom and Post Office
Rugby Union (affiliated to
the RFU) from 1984 to
1986.

Russell Howell

Joined the WRU Board in
1997 and represents
District B.

He is a WRU representative
on FIRA - AER. He became
Chairman of Pentyrch RFC
while still playing for the
club. He was then club
president for eight years
and is now a life member.
He also chaired District B
before being elected onto
the WRU board.

He is a retired haulage
contractor.

Peredur Jenkins

Joined the WRU Board in
1993 and represents
District J.

He is a member of the
North Wales Rugby
Council and has been
active in developing the
north as a rugby
development region.

He played rugby for
Dolgellau RFC , Ruthin
RFC, Llandeilo RFC and
Lampeter RFC. He is the
current chairman of
Dolgellau RFC and has
overseen a project to raise
and invest £250,000 into
improving club facilities.

He followed a career in
banking and later became
an independent financial
advisor.

Alan Jones

Joined the WRU Board in
2003 and represents
District D.

He also chairs the WRU
Game Policy Committee
and is a member of the
Appointments and Rem-
uneration Panel.

He played for Birmingham
University and Bryncoch
RFC which he also
captained. He has been
club secretary for 20 years.

He was an IT specialist for
Wales Gas, BP and BT. He
has also carried out
volunteer work for the
Age Concern charity
helping elderly people
learn IT skills.

Aurwel Morgan

Joined the WRU Board in
2005 and represents
District D

He played rugby for
Cwmgwrach RFC,
University of Wales
Aberystwyth, Aberystwyth
RFC, Cardiganshire,
Winchester, Hampshire,
Glynneath RFC and
Bridgend Sports RFC. He
has been Chairman of
District D and was
secretary of Bridgend
Sports RFC for 30 years.

He is a retired lecturer in
Agriculture and Head of
Department at Glamorgan
College of Agriculture.
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Steve Pike

Joined the WRU Board in
2011 and represents
District G.

He has been a lifelong
member of Llanelli
Wanderers RFC and he is
currently club secretary
having joined the
committee aged 26 while
still a club player. 

He also captained Dyfed
Powys Police and rep-
resented British Police.

He was a serving police
officer for 36 years
including 16 as a coroner’s
officer. He has worked part
time as an employment
assistant and now works
delivering medical
prescriptions.

Ray Wilton

Joined the WRU Board in
1998 and represents
District C.

He is also a Citing
Commissioner to test
match level. 

He has been a member of
the Tylorstown RFC
committee for 30 years
and represented the club
on the Mid District
Committee from 1971. He
became chairman of the
Mid District selectors. He
was also a member of the
WRU’s League Manage-
ment Committee.

He worked as a develop-
ment engineer in the
power industry and was
also employed by the
Hoover washing machine
manufacturer for 36 years.

Company Secretary
Gareth Williams

He is Senior Partner with
Hugh James, the largest
law firm in Wales with
offices in Cardiff and
London. He is a specialist
in commercial litigation
and a sports lawyer. 

He is also Chairman of the
Board of Directors of the
Royal Welsh College of
Music and Drama,
Governor of the University
of Glamorgan, Trustee of
the Welsh Rugby
Charitable Trust. He is
formerly a deputy judge
and Chairman of the
Wales Commercial Law
Association.
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Thomas Mervyn Davies

Born: 9 December, 1946 - Swansea 

Died: 15 March, 2012 - Swansea 

‘Merve the Swerve’ was at the heart of the British & Irish
Lions’ Test series victories in 1971 and 1974, playing in all
eight internationals against the All Blacks and Springboks.
He led Wales to the Grand Slam in 1976 and had been
earmarked to lead the Lions in New Zealand in 1977. 

But fate stepped in and dealt the affable London Welsh
and Swansea No 8 a bitter blow. Playing for Swansea in
the Welsh Cup semi-final against Pontypool at Cardiff
Arms Park he suffered a brain haemorrhage. He was only
29 and was at the peak of his powers.

It took him many months to recover from his operation
and his retirement took its toll. "From competing against
New Zealand one minute to not being able to beat my
one-year-old son at tiddlywinks was a hard battle to come
to terms with," he said.

The fact he lived for a further 36 years after his illness said
as much about his strength of character and fighting spirit
as his uncompromising, winning style on the field.

Educated at Penlan School and Swansea College of
Education, Davies moved to Guildford in 1968 after
securing a position as a teacher in Frimley Green. He joined
the local rugby club, but found the standard less than
exacting and moved to London Welsh.

There he became an integral part of one of the most
successful club sides in Britain before returning to Swansea
in 1972. He rocketed from the third XV at London Welsh
to the Wales side for the opening game of the 1969 Five
Nations championship within a matter of four months and
then played 38 games in a row for his country.

He won three Triple Crowns, two Grand Slams, five
outright Five Nations titles and two Lions Test series. In
New Zealand he became known and respected as one of
the biggest thorns in their side in 1971. He was inducted
into the IRB Hall of Fame in 2001 and was regularly voted
Wales’ greatest ever No 8 and Captain.

“I remember being in a selection meeting at London Welsh
shortly after he had joined the club when it was suggested
Merve should be elevated from the Dragons to the Druids.
The third team captain, Glan Richards, told us he had ‘this
big lad, long and thin, who will win you some line-out ball,
but isn’t very good’,” said John Dawes, who captained him
at club, international and Lions levels.

“By October he had made his debut in the first team and
in January he was in the Welsh side. He played 38
consecutive games for Wales, became an icon and is up
there with the greatest players of all-time.

“He loved playing and you could totally rely on him – he
was totally uncompromising. As a captain he led by
example, was tremendously courageous and never opted
out of anything.

“Had it not been for his unfortunate brain haemorrhage
in 1976, he would have led the 1977 British & Irish Lions
to New Zealand and I think we might have won the series.
His would be one of the first names down on the team
sheet for any greatest ever Wales and Lions XVs.”

Gareth Edwards had the distinction of playing with Davies
in all 38 games he played for Wales and his eight Lions
tests. He described him as “a great player and a great team
mate.”
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He was made OBE in 1981 and had a bursary named after
him at Cardiff Medical School. A massive stroke in 2009
left him unable to speak and, since then, he had been
cared for at a nursing home in Porthcawl.

Brian Edwin Thomas

Born: 18 May, 1940 - Pontwalby

Died: 9 July, 2012 -  Neath

Brian Thomas added a steely edge to
the Neath team both on and off the
field during a 30 year connection as
player and team manager at his
home town club. He captained the
side between 1966-68 and steered
them to the Welsh Championship

and the Anglo-Welsh “Sunday Telegraph” Pennant in
1966/1967. 

A product of the famous Neath Grammar School rugby
nursery he went up to Cambridge University and won
three Blues between 1960-62 and played against the 1960
South Africans for both his university and the combined
Neath-Aberavon XV.

A second row who could also play at prop, he won the first
of his 21 caps against England in Cardiff in 1963. He went
on to help Wales win three Five Nations titles and two
Triple Crowns. He toured South Africa in 1964 and New
Zealand and Australia in 1969.

He was in the Neath team that won the inaugural WRU
Challenge Cup in 1972 and then turned his hand to
management between 1981-1996. In that time Neath
became the dominant force in Welsh and British rugby,
forcing New Zealand, Australia and South Africa to fight
for their lives for narrow victories at The Gnoll.

During his reign as team manager Neath managed the
following:

1983/84 – WRU Cup finalists

1986/87 – Welsh Champions, Merit Table and “Sunday
Telegraph” winners 

1987/88 – WRU Cup finalists 

1988/89 – Welsh Champions and WRU Cup winners. Set
two world club records – 1,917 points and 345 tries in 50
games

1989/90 – Welsh Champions, Merit Table winners and
WRU Cup winners 

1990/91 – Inaugural WRU National League champions

1992/93 – WRU Cup finalists

1995/96 – WRU National League Champions and WRU
Cup finalist.

Malcolm Campbell Thomas

Born: 25 April, 1929 - Machen 

Died: 9 April, 2012 - Burnham,
Bucks

Malcolm Thomas won two Grand
Slams, two Triple Crowns and three
outright Five Nations titles with
Wales and also went on two tours
with the British & Irish Lions. He
won 27 caps for his country
between 1949 and 1959, playing at

wing, centre and fly-half.

He famously scored the try that ended Wales’ 39-year wait
for an eighth Triple Crown against Ireland in Belfast on 11
March 1950. With the game tied at 3-3 with the Ravenhill
clock showing a mere three minutes left to play, Thomas
dived over in the left corner for a match-winning score as
Wales completed stage three of their first Grand Slam since
1911.

Born in the same year the land speed record was broken,
his forenames were in honour of the man behind the
wheel of the successful attempt. Educated at Bassaleg
Grammar School, from where he won international
honours at both rugby and cricket with Wales, and
Caerleon Training College, he then enlisted as Instructor
Lieutenant in the Royal Navy on a three year, short-term
commission. 

He had made the first of his eventual 276 appearances for
Newport in 1946 at the age of 17 and then went on to
captain Devonport Services and the Navy. He led Newport
for three season, including their Club Championship
campaign of 1955/56, and won his first cap against France
in 1949. 

Equally at home at centre, wing, full back and outside-half,
he played in all four positions for the Lions. He was the
youngest player selected for the 1950 Lions tour to New
Zealand and Australia and returned to Australasia in 1959
for a second time nine years later.

He played in 15 games on his first Lions tour, scoring 96
points, and played in two Tests defeats in New Zealand and

Dr Jack Matthews

Born: 21 August, 1920 - Bridgend

Died: 18 July, 2012 - Bridgend 

Dr Jack and Bleddyn went together
perfectly, arguably the best and
most perfectly balanced centre
pairing Welsh and British & Irish
Lions rugby has ever produced. They
were rugby’s equivalent of Torvill
and Dean, Best and Charlton,

Statham and Trueman, an inseparable duo both on and off
the field.

They were a double act not to be missed by friend or foe
on a trip to Cardiff, where rugby was always top of the
agenda at the corner of the bar at either the Cardiff &
County Club or Cardiff Athletic Club. Bleddyn Williams,
the Prince of Welsh centres, was the first to leave in July,
2009, and now the harder edge of partnership, Dr Jack
Matthews, has followed suit, aged 92.

Fans flocked to see them play for Cardiff, Wales and the
Lions. Opponents winced at the prospect of having to try
to contain the elusive Williams and face up to the
bludgeoning Matthews. Not that Dr Jack, he of the bone-
shuddering tackle and iron hand off, was without finesse,
speed or guile.

He was quick enough to win a Welsh Junior 220 yard title
in 1937, and take a silver medal at the Welsh senior 100
yard championships two years later; tough enough to lay
out Billy Boston in a tackle before the wing became a
rugby league legend with Wigan and Great Britain and
wily enough to negotiate four rounds with future World
Heavyweight Boxing Champion Rocky Marciano.

The details of how the 23-year-old trainee doctor from
Cardiff ended up in the ring with a 20-year-old American
GI named Rocco Marchegiano are the stuff of legend, and
Matthews never forgot the finer points.

“I was part of the boxing team of the Welsh National
School of Medicine at Cardiff University. We went to St
Athan to box and Marciano was in the team,” Matthews
told BBC Wales four years ago.

"As I climbed into the ring inside the St Athan gym, his
team-mate told me 'Rocky has knocked out his last six
opponents.' I replied 'well, he won't make it seven.' And I
was true to my word!

"It was a four-round contest and no winner was declared.

I can't remember much about the fight, I don't think about
it. It's just something I did.

"I only fought a few fights. I didn't tell my parents because
they didn't like me boxing."

Marciano turned professional in 1947 and defeated Jersey
Joe Walcott to become the undisputed heavyweight
champion of the world in September, 1952. Only six
professional challengers took Marciano the full distance
and he ended with a perfect record of 49 wins from 49
fights.

Born in Bridgend, Matthews played for the Welsh
Secondary Schools team for three years before taking up
medicine at Cardiff Medical School. He went on to become
a GP, practicing in Cardiff for more than 40 years. He also
became Honorary Physician to the Welsh Rugby Union,
was the first Honorary Doctor to the British & Irish Lions
on their 1980 tour to South Africa and was the doctor at
the British Boxing Board of Control for a period.

He was as forthright off the field as he was on it, and he
gave Lions coach Clive Woodward a verbal roasting in
2005 when he announced plans to split his squad into two
teams with two dedicated coaching groups. "It will be the
ruination of the British Lions tour of New Zealand,"
predicted the then 88-year-old.

But it was on the rugby field that Matthews truly excelled,
forming one of the greatest midfield partnerships of his
era for both club and country with Williams. A Welsh
trialist at 18, he got his first taste of international rugby
when he appeared for Wales at Gloucester in 1940 in a
Red Cross International. He then featured in four Victory
Internationals in 1945 and 1946 before winning his first
official Welsh cap against England at Cardiff Arms Park in
the first full-international after World War II. Other
debutants in the 9-6 defeat were Williams, Ken Jones, Rhys
Stephens a Billy Cleaver, all of whom joined Matthews on
the 1950 Lions tour to New Zealand and Australia.

He went on to play 17 times for his country as both centre
and wing between 1947-51, scored four tries, captained
Wales once and won a Grand Slam in 1950. He made 20
appearances for the Lions in 1950, including appearing in
all six Tests against the All Blacks and Wallabies.

He captained Cardiff for four seasons, became club
chairman and played for them against the New Zealand
Services, in their victory over the 1947 Wallabies and led
them in their narrow, 11-9 defeat to the Springboks in
1951. He also played for the Barbarians.
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one victory in Australia. His first game in Lions colours saw
him land a record-breaking six penalties against a
Combined Nelson-Marlborough-Golden Bay-Motueka XV,
while a near length-of-the-field try took his personal tally
to 21 points – the most by a Lion at that time.

A broken leg in a pre-season trial match in 1954 had cost
Thomas any chance of challenging for a place on the 1955
Lions tour to South Africa, but he was still in good enough
form in the 1958/59 season to be chosen as the one 30+
player in the tour party – and the only survivor from 1950.

This time he played 17 times in New Zealand and Australia,
scoring 56 points and picking up another Test cap against
the All Blacks. When the Lions arrived in Blenheim, to face
the same Combined Nelson-Marlborough-Golden Bay-
Motueka XV that Thomas had put to the sword nine years
earlier, they gave the Newport all-rounder the honour of
captaining the side from full back.

This time he scored a record 25 points against them,
converting eight of the Lions’ 13 tries and also kicked three
penalties in a record 64-5 victory.

He played for Newport against South Africa in 1952, New
Zealand in 1954, and Australia in 1957 and, at various
times, also turned out for Cornwall, Monmouthshire and
the Barbarians. He retired in 1959.

A highly successful businessman, he worked for Reed
Corrugated Cases (then Thompson and Norris) in South
Wales, whose marketing arm he had initially joined in
1952. He moved into management in 1964 and ran the
company’s factory in Hartlepool and then at Shirley in
Birmingham before moving south again. In 1973 he was
appointed managing director of Reed Group Packaging
Division. 

In 1981 he joined Jefferson Smurfit Packaging with whom
he stayed as a non-executive officer after his retirement.
He also held non-executive positions with other companies
while still employed by Smurfits. In 1993, he was
appointed Group Chairman of Hornby Hobbies. 

Robert Clive Shell

Born: 9 September, 1947 - Pyle

Died: 6 January, 2012 - Porthcawl

One of a number of top flight scrum
halves produced in Wales who
suffered through playing at the
same time as Gareth Edwards. He
won one cap as a replacement as
his great rival from Cardiff played 53
consecutive games for his country.

His one precious cap came as an injury time replacement
against Australia at Cardiff Arms Park in 1973. 

His half-back partnership with John Bevan at Aberavon
was one of the best of its era in Welsh club rugby and both
players became internationals. A product of Cardiff
College of Education, Clive was a schoolteacher by
profession who went on to coach both Pyle and Aberavon
at the end of his distinguished playing career. 

He toured Canada with Wales in 1973 and then played in
three games, including both non-capped Tests, in Japan in
1975. He then scored a try in a win for a Wales XV against
Japan on their tour in 1975.

A Barbarian, he skippered Aberavon from 1976-1979
before retiring from the first-class arena and stepping
down to serve his home club Pyle.

Robin Havard Davies 

Born: 12 January, 1934 - Battersea 

Died: 7 October, 2011 - Penarth 

RH, as he was always known, won
six caps in the back row for Wales
between 1957-63, scoring a try on
his debut against Scotland at
Murrayfield in a 9-6 defeat. He then
helped Wales to beat both Ireland
and France in the remainder of the

Championship. He played in the win over Australia in the
first half of the 1958/59 season, but then had to wait a
further four years before adding to his cap collection. An
Oxford University blue, he played club rugby for London
Welsh and also played for the Barbarians. He toured South
Africa with the Combined Oxford and Cambridge side in
1957 and returned with the Barbarians a year later. 
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The Purpose of the WRU is:
To promote, foster, encourage, control and improve rugby football in Wales.

The WRU Group’s Vision is three fold:
• Taking Wales to the world with our rugby

• Welcoming the world to Wales in our Stadium

• Helping define Wales as a nation

The WRU Group’s Mission is based upon:
• Leading Welsh rugby to the forefront of the global game in 
performance and reputation

• Maximising participation, performance and enjoyment of the 
game at all levels

• Developing grass roots rugby, supporting clubs, schools, colleges 
and bringing communities together

• Promoting the Millennium Stadium as a unique, must play, 
must visit venue

Our Values and Beliefs
Our purpose, vision, and mission are underpinned by our values and beliefs
which embrace, integrity, excellence, success, courage, family and humour
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